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Forest & Wood Products Australia Limited 
(FWPA) is an industry services company 
providing a national, integrated strategy to 
increase demand for forest and wood products 
and reduce the impediments to their supply. 
FWPA is committed to helping the forest and 
wood products industry to be collaborative, 
innovative, sustainable and competitive.

VISION 

To ensure that forest and wood products are the 
preferred, sustainable material that meets the 
Australian market needs. 

MISSION 

The vision will be achieved through FWPA investing 
strategically in R&D, knowledge transfer, education 
and generic promotion to gain community 
support and market acceptance for forest and 
wood products.
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 2 HIGHLIGHTS

Consumer Advertising

Consumer advertising is the foundation on which long-
term attitudinal change is built and we have continued and 
extended activities in this area. The aim is to increase 
the use of forest and wood products by promoting their 
benefits. During the year, FWPA:

•	 Commenced an exciting new million dollar television 
campaign in partnership with Planet Ark’s Environmental 
Edge television ‘infomercials’ hosted by Peter Maddison, 
an award-winning architect and host of Grand Designs 
Australia

•	 Developed a sponsorship structure with Planet Ark 
to support a campaign to promote the environmental 
benefits of using wood, to be launched in late 2011

•	 Continued to implement the twin-channel strategy of 
using the Wood. Naturally Better.™ consumer program 
to focus on the benefits of using wood products and 
WoodSolutions™ activities to provide information about 
how to use wood and wood products

•	 Updated and continued the successful print advertising 
developed in 2009/2010, into 2010/2011. Using the 
theme ’You can tackle…’, the campaign featured three 
versions, each focusing on a specific area in which wood 
is used; construction (framing), interior (floor and furniture) 
and exterior (cladding and landscaping)

•	 Sponsored a select range of events and activities, 
including National Carpenters Day, Australian Timber 
Design Awards, Master Builders Australia 2010 National 
Building and Construction Awards, Bjørn Lomborg and 
Michael Green’s Australian Tour, Built Environment Meets 
Parliament and Sustainable House Day.

Specifier Program

Responding to research that identified a lack of accessible 
information as an impediment to using wood in design and 
construction, FWPA expanded its range of activities under 
the specifier program.

Key achievements included:

•	 Launching an online industry database  
www.woodsolutions.com.au – a comprehensive website 
and world-leading resource for any industry in the 
materials sector

•	 Enabling electronic download of the WoodSolutions 
Technical Design Guides and having more title 
in development

•	 Hosting WoodSolutions™ 2010 seminars, featuring 
international and Australasian speakers, for architects, 
engineers and building designers, in Brisbane, Sydney 
and Melbourne.

Investing in Research and Development

R&D is a core FWPA activity that consistently demonstrates 
an excellent financial return on investment. During the past 
year, 46 projects were initiated, 46 continued, 50 completed 
and 1 terminated.

Key projects included:

•	 Near infrared assessment of resin quality for composite 
panel production

•	 Schedule development, predictive modelling and 
economic viability assessment of vacuum drying 
Australian commercial hardwoods

•	 The potential to recover higher-value veneer products 
from fibre managed plantation eucalyptus and broaden 
product and market opportunities for this resource

•	 Forest industry cooperative pesticide research, 
chemical registration, industry and community 
education and chemical use and application regulation 
advice consortium

•	 Genetic selection tools for enhanced wood properties and 
plantation productivity in Australia’s temperate eucalypts 

•	 Pine timber roof environments in Western Australia and its 
susceptibility to European house borer

•	 Development of a selection and implementation guide for 
the use of onboard systems for improved efficiency and 
value recovery in Australian forest operations.

2010/11 HIGHLIGHTS

p	Award-winning Canadian architect, Michael Green, presenting 
at Green Cities 2011.
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Communicating R&D Findings

Disseminating knowledge is essential to encourage the 
uptake of new information about processes and practices 
that will increase industry productivity and profitability. During 
the year, an increased focus on technology transfer resulted 
in the delivery of important initiatives including:

•	 Introducing an R&D Works seminar series to make 
research and researchers accessible, with a focus on 
technical tools that can be implemented by industry

•	 Publishing a new R&D based monthly newsletter, R&D 
Works, containing research findings from around the 
world and feature summaries on both FWPA-funded 
research and other research of interest to Australian forest 
growers, processors and importers

•	 Updating the FWPA corporate website with improved 
usability, including research report search functionality, 
report summaries and video capabilities.

Promoting careers and 
education resources

The long-term future of the industry will be influenced by 
what people know about it and the way it is perceived. 
To ensure that people understand more about forestry 
and wood products, the Board endorsed the Education 
Investment Plan in 2010. The past 12 months have seen 
the successful implementation of initiatives from the Plan, 
including:

•	 Launching GrowingCareers, a national careers program 
comprising airport, magazine and internet advertising 
supported by an employment-focused website and 
e-newsletter containing case studies, employee profiles 
and education resources

•	 Creating www.forestlearning.edu.au a new-look website 
with forest and wood product education resources for 
teachers of grades 3 to 12 in Australian schools. This 
resource will be promoted to schools and teachers by 
direct communication and via our alliances with other 
primary industry groups.

Scholarships and Prizes

FWPA supports scholarships and awards programs, aimed 
at the industry and the research community, to increase the 
industry’s capability to create and apply knowledge. 

In 2010/11, FWPA awarded:

•	 One fully funded place in the Australian Rural Leadership 
Foundation’s (ARLF) TRAILBlazers 2011 program to Andy 
Wright from Elders Forestry 

•	 Two full scholarships – one to Tristan Morgan who is 
undertaking study in the use of advanced digital design 
and manufacturing technologies applied to engineered 
timber products at the University of Western Australia 
and the other to Doug Thomas from the University of 
Technology Sydney who is investigating and developing 
strategies for timber residential buildings

•	 A top-up scholarship to Ian Riley from the University of 
Tasmania to study the ecological factors affecting carbon 
stocks of Tasmanian native forests

•	 Two scholarships for Indigenous students looking to 
further their careers in the forestry industry to Kerry 
Wharley of Boral Timbers in Kyogle and Martyn Ellis

•	 FWPA sponsored DAFF Science and Innovation Award 
for Young People in Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry to 
Patrick Mitchell.

Standards Coordination

By becoming involved in the development and specification 
of building codes and standards, FWPA aims to maintain or 
increase access for wood-based products. Activities in this 
area during the past financial year, included:

•	 Representation on Standards Australia Building Sector 
Board and Standards committees

•	 Contributing to the drafting of the proposed Amendment 
3 to AS3959 (fire-tested sheet roof system) which 
will enable the use of timber products in extreme 
bushfire areas

•	 Developing AS1604 and AS1605 series and finger-jointed 
timber standards

•	 Commencing training seminars for the adoption of 
AS1684.2, the main industry standard that enables 
market access to the residential timber-framed housing 
market and supports the use of industry products.



 4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

CHaIrmaN’S rEpOrT

The 2010/11 financial year was challenging for the forest 
and wood products sector. Slowing housing starts, 
historically high exchange rates and corporate restructuring 
all added to a sense of uncertainty. In some circles, this has 
been referred to as a “crisis of profitability and confidence”.

However, the sector must look beyond the current 
circumstances and see that it has a bright future. There are 
some parts of the operating environment that are beyond 
our control – exchange rates being an obvious example. 
So the focus must be on what we can influence, for both in 
the short and longer term.

FWPA is an organisation with its eye firmly on the future. 
This future focus is embedded into our Constitution and 
reflected in our corporate vision, mission and strategies. 

Each of the company’s four strategies is about building a 
better future for the sector – a future that is underpinned 
by a solid demand for our products driven by consumers 
and building specifiers; R&D investments that are solving 
tomorrow’s problems (not yesterday’s); and a culture that is 
not only receptive, but embraces innovation.

In simple terms, FWPA is about creating the building blocks 
that can be used by companies or other organisations 
in the sector. This may be in the area of building codes 
and standards, more strategic R&D investment or generic 
promotion. These are all activities where collaborative action 
delivers more than individual company or sector effort – in 
economist-speak; these activities address “market failures”. 

It is encouraging that the Productivity Commission into its 
review of the rural research and development corporations 
(RDCs) came down strongly in favour of the model. This 
model consists of three key components: compulsory levies; 
government matching funds; and industry-led boards.

Looking back at the process that led to the formation of 
FWPA, there was guarded optimism for the new services 
company. There was strong support for an organisation that 
was owned by industry and responded to industry needs. 
This was to be an organisation that embraced the needs of 
the whole industry, above specific sectorial interests, and 
focused on growing the market for all.

These were lofty ambitions. 

The new company faced the risk of stumbling and 
disappointing its supporters as it made the transition from a 
statutory authority to a member-owned services company.

Without a shadow of doubt, FWPA has delivered on 
the promise.

FWPA’s success can be attributed to three factors: strong 
corporate governance; well-structured innovation; and 
continuous improvement. 

Strong corporate governance is not just a function of the 
board of directors, although FWPA is fortunate to have 
attracted directors who are engaged and exhibit high 
professionalism and probity. It is also about systems and 
processes that provide transparency and trust between the 
board and company management.

A small case in point: the financial accounts presented in 
this annual report are without one single recommended 
change from the external auditors. A clean audit report is 
not achieved by chance – it is a consequence of disciplined 
systems and professional staff.

Well-structured innovation is about doing things differently 
but within a framework of strong risk management. For 
example, R&D investments have no guarantee of success 
and are therefore inherently risky. However, the development 
of R&D investment plans and portfolio management 
is intended to help mitigate the risk. Similarly, FWPA’s 
marketing activities are both structured and innovative. 

Continuous improvement is very much about culture: 
a willingness to reject complacency, measure progress 
and constantly strive for better outcomes. It also requires 
support systems for objective measurement and reflection. 
This culture and systematic approach underpins the 
workings of the FWPA Board and management.

I thank all my fellow Directors for their commitment and 
contribution, and especially acknowledge the service of 
Dr Sadanandan Nambiar who retired from the Board at the 
last annual general meeting. 

Also, I thank Ric Sinclair, the management team of FWPA, 
members of our advisory groups, our research providers 
and marketing suppliers. The ability of FWPA to deliver on 
its promise to industry is very much a team effort. This is a 
team that shares a common purpose in building a better 
future for the forest and wood products sector.

CHAIRMAN 
Mr Ron Adams
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maNaGING DIrECTOr’S rEpOrT

At a strategic planning session in early February, the 
directors developed and endorsed a refined vision and 
mission for the company as a part of the review of the five-
year strategic plan.

This change was not because the company was heading off 
in a new direction. Rather, it was to reflect the evolution of 
the organisation (as well as the substantial changes within 
our industry structures) over the past four years and its 
tighter strategic focus.

We all know that strategic planning at its worst can become 
a cynical exercise in wordsmithing. At its best, it can be an 
invigorating process that provides alignment throughout 
the organisation.

The original vision called for FWPA to be the leading source 
of knowledge and the principal investor in innovation 
and promotion.

On reflection, the directors thought that this vision was too 
internally focused and, if achieved, would not necessarily 
benefit our stakeholders. 

The revised vision is the following:

To ensure that forest and wood products are the preferred, 
sustainable material that meets the Australian market needs.

The directors are confident that this is a vision that our 
company members, levy payers and the Australian 
Government will heartily support. It is certainly a vision that is 
both desirable and can provide strong guidance for FWPA’s 
activities and investments.

Importantly, this is a vision that is attainable. Based on 
FWPA’s market research, there is already a strong base. For 
example, 87% of architects, 67% of structural engineers 
and 60% of the general public think that wood is more 
environmentally sustainable than other competing materials.

However, ‘sustainability’ and ‘market needs’ are not static 
concepts, so the pursuit of this vision will continue to be a 
stretch for FWPA and the industry itself.

In 2010/11, FWPA delivered on a range of programs that are 
intended to help achieve this vision. 

Under the generic promotion strategy, the alliance with 
Planet Ark and the launch of the new TV commercial 
has been widely recognised as an important platform for 
promoting the benefits of wood to consumers. Similarly, 
the new WoodSolutions website and supporting activities 
will help address the information gaps that often prevent 
building professionals from specifying wood.

In the area of R&D investments, we continue to invest in 
projects that either create opportunity for the sector or 
deal with potential threats. New market opportunities can 

potentially flow from our investments in the Structural Timber 
Innovation Company, powder coating of solid wood, or 
reducing fire regulatory barriers and standards. Productivity 
gains for the industry can be achieved from our investments 
into the Solid Wood Initiative, the near-infrared technology 
and onboard harvesting computer systems. Potential threats 
have been addressed in the area of radiata pine gene 
conservation, carbon storage in native forests and new 
investment models for plantations.

In 2010/11, there was substantial progress in tech transfer 
and education. The launch of the R&D Works newsletter, 
regional R&D seminars and improved accessibility to 
research reports will help ensure that our R&D investments 
are being used by the industry and other stakeholders. 
The GrowingCareers program and the new Forestlearning 
website are long overdue initiatives to promote the sector as 
a career and provide teachers with curricula resources.

Finally, in the area of building codes and standards, we are 
starting to see benefit of coordinated action to address the 
opportunities and threats that arise from this arena.

FWPA is entering its fifth year of operation and is looking 
forward to the renewal of its statutory funding agreement 
with the Australian Government. As a part of this process, 
we will be undertaking an independent review of our 
corporate governance and operations. This review will be 
shared with all our stakeholders.

FWPA is focused on delivering on its strategic plan, which 
will provide measurable benefit to our members, levy payers 
and other stakeholders. However, the strategic plan, like 
the vision, is not an end-point. It is a journey. At all levels, 
the organisation is dedicated to the creed of continuous 
improvement and I thank our staff, researchers and 
suppliers for their enthusiastic participation in this journey.

MANAGING DIRECTOR 
Mr Ric Sinclair

 



 6 ORGANISATION

BOarD OF DIrECTOrS

The Board

The constitution of Forest and Wood Products Australia allows between five and nine Directors, including the Managing Director, 
who is appointed by the Board. At least two of the Board’s non-executive Directors must also be Independent Directors 
(not holding positions within any FWPA member companies). During the reporting period the Board comprised nine Directors, 
including the Managing Director and one outgoing Director (Dr Sadanandan Nambiar). Outgoing Director and Chairman 
Ron Adams was re-elected and new director Michele Allan welcomed to the Board at the last Annual General Meeting.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Mr Vince Erasmus 

Mr Erasmus is the Managing Director of one of Australia’s 
largest hardwood plantation forestry managers, Elders 
Forestry Limited. An experienced industry participant, 
Mr Erasmus has extensive skills and expertise in the 
management of both softwood and hardwood operations 
internationally as well as broad experience in the solid 
wood-processing environment. He is also a Director of 
Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) Australia, Australian 
Forest Products Association (AFPA) and World Forestry 
Center in Portland, Oregon. 

Board responsibilities: Chair of R&D Investment 
Committee and Chair of Wood Products Advisory Group

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Mr Evan Rolley

Mr Rolley was previously the Chief Commissioner for 
Forests, then Managing Director of Forestry Tasmania 
and was more recently Secretary of Premier and Cabinet 
in Tasmania. He is currently a Director of Tasports and 
operates a successful farming business, Huon Valley 
Vineyards. He holds qualifications in forestry and economics. 

Board responsibilities: Member of the Promotion, 
Services and Communication Committee, Member of the 
R&D Investment Committee and Chair of the Sustainable 
Resources Advisory Group.

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Mr Ron Adams 

Managing Director of Wespine Industries Pty Ltd, Mr Adams 
is also President of Forest Industries Federation of WA and 
a Trustee of J.W. Gottstein Memorial Trust. He was formerly 
a Director of National Association of Forest Industries (NAFI), 
member of WA Minister for Forestry’s Timber Plantation 
Advisory Group and The Australian Plantation Products and 
Paper Industry Council (A3P). He holds an associateship 
in Mechanical Engineering, is a graduate of the Harvard 
Business School International Advanced Management 
Programme and a Foundation Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Board responsibilities: Member of the R&D Investment 
Committee and Chair of the Market Access and 
Development Advisory Group.

DEPUTY CHAIRMAN 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Mr Nick Roberts 

Mr Roberts is CEO of Forests NSW. Previously, he has 
worked as Managing Director of Weyerhaeuser in both New 
Zealand and Australia, held senior roles in sales, marketing 
and operations with Fletcher Challenge in pulp and paper 
and forestry businesses, was president of the New Zealand 
Forest Owners’ Association, Director of Forest Research, 
and inaugural Chair of A3P. He holds a Master of Science in 
Wood Science.

Board responsibilities: Member of the Audit and 
Finance Committee. 

Mr Ron Adams Mr Nick Roberts Mr Vince Erasmus Mr Evan Rolley
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (INDEPENDENT) 
Mr Mark Grey

Mr Grey is the Chief Executive of the Queensland Eye 
Hospital and a non-Executive Director of CPA Australia and 
the Independent Ophthalmic Network. He has degrees in 
Asian Studies, Marketing and Corporate Governance and 
is a Certified Practising Marketer, a Chartered Secretary, a 
Fellow of the Australian Marketing Institute, Fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors, and a Fellow of 
the Australian Institute of Management. 

Board Responsibilities: Chair of the Audit and Finance 
Committee, Member of the Promotion, Services and 
Communication Committee.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (INDEPENDENT) 
Dr Michele Allan 

Dr Allan holds a Bachelor of Applied Science, Master of 
Management Technology, Master of Commercial Law and 
a Doctorate in Business Administration. She is a graduate 
and fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
Dr Allan is the chair of William Angliss Institute, chair of Go 
Grains Health and Nutrition Limited and an independent 
director of MG Corporation, Cooperative Research Centre 
Hearing, Food Standards Australia and New Zealand and 
Birchip Cropping Group.

Board responsibilities: Member of the R&D Investment 
Committee and the Audit and Finance Committee.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Mr Jim Snelson 

Mr Snelson is an experienced business leader and CEO 
of Carter Holt Harvey Wood Products Australia, with 
significant interests in solid wood and panel products. 
He brings extensive strategic business restructuring and 
market development skills gained over more than 20 years. 
He is a Director of Highland Pine Products Pty Ltd and the 
Australian Forest Products Association.

Board responsibilities: Chair of the Promotion, Services 
and Communication Committee.

MANAGING DIRECTOR 
Mr Ric Sinclair 

Before joining FWPA, Mr Sinclair spent seven years in the 
grocery and food industry where he worked in operations, 
corporate finance and strategy roles. Mr Sinclair has held 
operations, marketing and strategy roles at Origin Energy, 
KH Foods, Chiquita Brands and Amcor/PaperlinX. He holds 
a BSc (Forestry) and an MBA. Mr Sinclair was appointed to 
the role of Managing Director in June 2008.

Board responsibilities: Member of the R&D Investment 
Committee, the Promotion, Services & Communication 
Committee and invited guest to the Audit & Finance 
Committee.

Mr Mark Grey Dr Michele Allan Mr Jim Snelson Mr Ric Sinclair
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Ric Sinclair 
MANAGING DIRECTOR

Chris Lafferty 
R&D MANAGER

Jason See 
BUSINESS MANAGER

Boris Iskra 
CODES & STANDARDS MANAGER

Neva Law 
MARKETING AND COMMUNICATIONS MANAGER

Christine Stomps 
SENIOR COMMUNICATIONS COORDINATOR

Jugo Ilic 
R&D OFFICER

Su Chandrashaker 
DATABASE AND WEB CONTENT ADMINISTRATOR

Kelly Goh 
FINANCE OFFICER

Grace Davies 
ADMINISTRATION ASSISTANT

OUr STaFF
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A E Girle & Sons

ACN 009 326 756 LIM (Formerly Pinetec Ltd) (under 
external administration)

Allied Timber Products Pty Ltd

Alpine MDF Industries Pty Ltd

Associated Kiln Driers Pty Ltd T/As A.K.D. Softwoods

Auspine Pty Ltd

Austral Plywoods Pty Ltd

Australian Solar Timbers

Australian United Timbers Pty Ltd

Auswest Timbers Pty Ltd

Bayswood Timber Wholesalers Pty Ltd

Big River Timbers Pty Ltd

Birnam Forests Pty Ltd

Blueleaf Corporation Pty Ltd T/As Whittakers Timber 
Products

Boral Timber Division

Briggs Veneers Pty Ltd

Britton Bros Pty Ltd

Bunbury Treefarm Project

Carter Holt Harvey Woodproducts Australia

Department of Environment & Resource Management 
(DERM)

Dindas Australia Pty Ltd

Dindi Sawmill

Elders Forestry Limited

Environmental Forest Farms Management Ltd

Fenning Investments Pty Ltd

Forest Products Commission (WA)

Forest Strategy Pty Ltd

Forestry Commission of NSW T/As Forests NSW

Forestry Plantations Queensland Pty Ltd

Forestry SA

Forestry Tasmania

George Fethers & Co. Trading Pty Ltd

Green Triangle Forest Products

GTP Alexandra Pty Ltd (GUNNS Timber Products)

GTP Heyfield Pty Ltd (GUNNS Timber Products)

Gunnersens Pty Ltd

Gunns Forest Products Pty Ltd

Gunns Ltd

Hancock Victorian Plantations Pty Ltd (HVP)

Highland Pine Products Pty Ltd

Hurford Sawmilling Pty Ltd

Hyne Timber

ITI (NSW) Pty Ltd

J Notaras & Sons Pty Ltd

Jarrah Select Pty Ltd

Jelfor Treated Timbers Pty Ltd

Jetstar Enterprises Pty Ltd T/As Permapole

John Cook & Sons Pty Ltd

Koppers Wood Products Pty Ltd – Picton

Machin’s Sawmill Pty Ltd

Mathews Timber Pty Ltd

McCormack Demby Timber Pty Ltd

Meyer Timber Pty Ltd

Midway Limited

N K Collins Industries Pty Ltd

Penrose Pine Products Pty Ltd

Pentarch Forest Products Pty Ltd

Porta Mouldings Pty Ltd

Radial Timber Australia

Ridgewood Timber Pty Ltd

Ryan & McNulty Pty Ltd

Sarawood (Aust)

SFM Environmental Solutions

Simmonds Lumber Pty Ltd

South East Fibre Exports Pty Ltd

Stora Enso Timber Australia Pty Ltd

Swan Le Messurier Pty Ltd

Tasman KB Pty Ltd

The Australian Sawmilling Company Pty Ltd (TASCO)

The Laminex Group

Tilling Timber Pty Ltd

Timberlands Pacific Pty Ltd

VicForests

WA Chip & Pulp Co Pty Ltd

Weathertex Pty Ltd

Wesbeam Pty Ltd

Wespine Industries Pty Ltd

Wilton Logging Pty Ltd

Wright Forest Products Pty Ltd

OUr mEmBErS



 10 STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK

STraTEGIC FramEwOrk

Over the past 12 months, FWPA has focused on 
cost effectively delivering on programs and activities 
as established within the five-year Strategic Plan 
and the annual operating plan. 

The 2011-15 Strategic Plan

The five-year Strategic Plan is the forest and wood products 
industry’s research and communication strategy. 

Developed in consultation with both the industry and 
government, the Strategic Plan is designed to guide the 
FWPA’s Board as it fulfils its responsibilities to the industry. 

The Plan complies with the requirements of the five-
year Statutory Funding Agreement with the Australian 
Government, which commenced on 3 September 2007.

The Plan contains the seven drivers, identified by FWPA as 
having the most influence on the future of the industry.

Seven drivers of success 

Community trust and support

Australia’s demographics are continuing to shift concurrently 
in two directions, creating a knowledge gap between 
the industry and sections of the community. City-based 
populations are growing faster than regional ones, while 
many rural communities’ values are changing in response 
to lifestyle and economic swings. Commercial forestry 
will continue to require access to both forested and non-
forested land in many regions for the industry’s expansion, 
enabling it to supply community demand for products. 
Balancing competing demands and understanding 
community attitudes regarding the place of forestry in 
Australia’s landscape – whether plantation-based or 
natural – will continue to require industry and community 
engagement. This will extend along the value chain to 
community views on the utilisation of forest products and 
services. Community trust and support for sustainable 
management of forests and use of wood products is a key 
driver for FWPA agenda. 

Product usage

To be successful, the Australian forest and wood products 
industry will increasingly need to comprehend a new mix of 
factors that determine market preference for materials and 
their application. Many of the factors affecting traditional 
markets, such as housing, are extrinsic, for example 
regulation, life-cycle performance, development density, 
protection, and affordability. Others depend upon intrinsic 
design, reuse and recyclability, reliability, utility and quality. 
Consumer demand for forest and wood products will remain 
strong provided the industry stays abreast of these trends. 
The industry will need timely assessment, analysis and 
dissemination of market and product information, matched 
by effective engagement with regulators, standards bodies, 
specifiers, designers, and product innovators. FWPA has 
a key role in managing these factors to the industry’s profit 
and the nation’s benefit.

Climate change

Climate change will have profound implications and create 
opportunities for Australia’s forest and wood products 
industry. It resonates along the entire product chain, from 
genetics and ecology to end-of-product life. Every facet of 
forestry, transport, manufacturing, marketing and end-use 
application will be affected by climate change itself and 
by emerging policies and regulations. It encompasses key 
issues such as water, carbon sequestration and storage, 
energy and fuel sources, bushfire and biosecurity. FWPA’s 
activity is informed by, and responds to, this driver.

Competitiveness

The industry must compete in an increasingly broad and 
diverse marketplace, and face issues such as reducing trade 
barriers, asset consolidation, economies of scale, terms of 
trade and alternative materials. There is growing competition 
for raw materials and other inputs such as water, land and 
energy. There is also a shift to new and alternative products 
and services. Within this business environment, Australia’s 
forest and wood products industry must continue to deliver 
value for money for its customers, including new or unique 
products and services, while maintaining an internationally 
competitive cost structure in relation to alternative 
materials. FWPA’s actions are directed at meeting this 
competitiveness challenge.
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Sustainability

Society increasingly demands that its goods and services 
are provided from demonstrably environmentally sustainable 
sources. Within this context, the industry must be able 
to balance its inputs and product supply to meet market 
demands. Increasing forest resource flows are required to 
meet the economies of scale demanded by the modern 
market and population growth. The industry needs to 
continually demonstrate its sustainable management of 
ecological assets and processes, water, chemicals and 
energy, and the protection of forests from fire and other 
hazards. Customers are also seeking more certainty on 
the provenance of the goods they buy, with increasing 
preference for evidence of sustainability, legality, utility 
and re-usability. Independent certification of sustainable 
forest management and supply chain custody can assist 
in providing this certainty. FWPA’s strategies are directed 
at assisting in the sustainability of Australian forest 
resources, and the wider industry’s activities, to address 
these imperatives.

Investment

Private and institutional financing models are creating new 
structures and opportunities for investment in industry, 
natural resources and infrastructure. In the forest and 
wood products industry, traditional modes of funding, 
including a significant government role, will not deliver all the 
investment required by Australia’s industry for its growth in 
resource development, manufacturing and infrastructure. 
By attracting and harnessing new sources and means of 
funding, the industry can competitively supply the expanding 
markets for its products. FWPA’s Priority Themes recognise 
the changing investment environment and its significance for 
the industry.

Industry capability

For an industry to be successful, it must be able to 
overcome its capability constraints in the context of an 
increasingly mobile workforce, competition for high-
quality personnel, and evolving expectations of a modern 
workplace. The forest and wood products industry will 
therefore need to embrace more fully a culture of innovation, 
including knowledge generation and adoption, technical 
transfer, skill development, continuous improvement, and 
international best practice, in a consistent, continuous and 
sustained manner. FWPA will play a key role in improving 
technical transfer and education resources but appropriate 
investment will need to be committed by the whole industry 
to bring it about. 

Four action strategies

Underpinned by the seven drivers of success, four key 
action strategies provide the framework for the company’s 
actions in day-to-day program delivery and the scope of 
planned activities are identified in the annual operating plan.

STRATEGY ONE:

INDUSTRY PROMOTION

Promote the benefits and usage of forest 
and wood products, in accord with changing 
community attitudes, environmental awareness, 
and market trends

The five-year Strategic Plan identifies the following priority 
themes for this strategy:

•	 Promote benefits of forest and wood products, especially 
environmental, including low embodied energy, carbon 
storage, renewability, reusability/recyclability and evidence 
of sustainability

•	 Promote forest and wood products/applications over 
alternatives, and of new applications and services to meet 
emerging markets

•	 Engage with the community to understand attitudes 
and to assist industry decision -making and policy 
development 

•	 Engage with regulators, standards bodies, opinion 
leaders and specifiers to maximise wood products’ 
specification and utilisation.

This strategy has three key outcomes: increased 
consumption of forest and wood products; improved 
market awareness of, and satisfaction with, forest and wood 
products; and improved community understanding of the 
socio-economic and environmental benefits of the industry.

Activities include:

•	 Wood. Naturally Better.™ 

•	 WoodSolutions™

•	 The Wood. Naturally Better.™ partner program

•	 Sponsorships and other partnerships

•	 Ongoing qualitative and quantitative research.
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STRATEGY TWO: 

RESEARCH AND  
DEVELOPMENT

Invest in and coordinate R&D to improve the 
industry’s competitiveness, inform its climate 
change response, enhance investment, increase 
usage, and ensure the sustainability of forests, wood 
products and services 

FWPA has derived seven priority themes for its 
R&D investments:

•	 Evaluate market trends nationally and internationally 
to enable industry to develop business and industry 
development strategies 

•	 Maintain and expand markets for wood products 
and the new products and services required to meet 
these markets

•	 Develop knowledge and technology to improve existing 
production and utilisation processes

•	 Characterise the properties and variability of wood 
resources and maximise value recovery

•	 Enable genetic improvement and the management of 
biotic or abiotic risk factors 

•	 Develop systems and technologies to maintain or improve 
productivity and utilise water efficiently 

•	 Evaluate strategies for forest management under climate 
change and maximise greenhouse advantages of 
forest products.

Through investment priorities FWPA links industry 
requirements to research needs and resources. There are 
currently 12 investment priorities, eight of which now have 
investment plans. The remaining four plans are in progress 
with expected completion in early 2012.

•	 Information, analysis and interpretation of domestic and 
export markets

•	 Timber construction in residential buildings

•	 Timber construction in commercial and industrial buildings

•	 Wood products in sustainable buildings

•	 Development of secondary products and markets for them

•	 Solid wood, engineered wood and pulp and paper 
products: Performance and yield

•	 Maximising product yields and values from 
current resources

•	 Forest management tools to improve wood quality 
and yield

•	 Genetic improvement and delivery for increased wood 
yield and quality and for managing risks

•	 Water use efficiency, access to resources and balanced 
policy outcomes

•	 Forest biosecurity and preparedness

•	 Mitigation of and adaptation to climate change and 
the management of the carbon cycle in plantation and 
native forests.
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STRATEGY FOUR: 

STANDARDS  
COORDINATION

To coordinate the industry’s management of 
consensus-based standards and building codes 
to maintain or improve market acceptance of the 
industry’s products

The five-year Strategic Plan identifies the following four 
priority themes for this strategy:

•	 Analyse and prioritise standards and codes based on 
importance and impact to industry.

•	 Ensure effective consultation and engagement within 
industry on standards and codes

•	 Use cost-effective and efficient mechanisms for the 
development and maintenance of standards and codes.

•	 Facilitate the uptake and adoption of stands and codes in 
a timely manner.

This strategy has three outcomes: improving market access 
and/or reducing barriers to the use of wood products; 
increasing understanding and adoption of relevant standards 
and codes within the industry and building professionals; 
and reducing the cost of delivery of standards development.

STRATEGY THREE: 

TECH TRANSFER  
AND EDUCATION

Grow the industry’s capacity and capability through 
effective technical transfer and focused education 
activities that support the industry and its products

The five-year Strategic Plan identifies the following four 
priority themes for this strategy:

•	 Disseminate R&D outputs and maximise and accelerate 
knowledge adoption and technology uptake

•	 Assist industry to access knowledge and technologies 
developed elsewhere

•	 Enable industry’s continuous improvement & adoption of 
best practice 

•	 Selectively develop educational initiatives to lift people’s 
interest in, and skills for, the industry, its networks and 
research providers.

This strategy has four key outcomes: increased adoption of 
R&D findings; increased availability of skilled personnel to 
the industry; development and uptake of new and existing 
industry-oriented educational programs or resources; 
and improved interest and awareness of the industry as a 
career choice.
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COLLaBOraTIvE aCTIvITIES

FWPA is one of 15 rural research and development 
corporations and industry services companies (RDCs) that 
represent a unique partnership between the Australian 
Government and the rural industries. Levies for R&D 
investments are collected on a range of primary products 
and are matched on a one-to-one basis by the Australian 
Government (in forestry’s case under the provisions of 
the Forestry Marketing and Research and Development 
Services Act 2007). The provision of matching funding to 
industry services companies is enabled under statutory 
funding agreements entered into between the individual 
companies and the Australian Government.

Rural R&D Priorities

The percentage of total expenditure across  
Rural R&D Priorities 2010/11

n	Productivity and Adding Value 33%

n	Supply Chain and Markets 19%

n	Natural Resource Management 22%

n	Climate Variability and Climate Change 11%

n	Biosecurity 5%

n	Supporting Innovation Skills 5%

n	Supporting Technology 5%

National Research Priorities

The percentage of R&D expenditure estimates across 
National Research Priority Goals 2010/11

n	An Environmentally Sustainable Australia 72%

n	Promoting and Maintaining Good Health 2%

n	Frontier Technologies for Building and  

Transforming Australian Industries 12%

n	Safeguarding Australia 14%

Aligning with Government Priorities

The Australian Government is a major contributor to FWPA 
programs through matching R&D funding. The five-year 
Strategic Plan aligns the company’s investment priorities 
with the Australian Government’s national and rural research 
priorities and their associated community and industry 
outcomes, which are:

•	 Productivity improvement – to generate new knowledge, 
which will lead to improved technology that will be 
adopted by producers to increase productivity.

•	 Climate change – to reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
and improve soil management, and assist producers 
to adapt and change farming practices whilst 
boosting productivity.

•	 Sustainable environmental resource management – to 
build and share our knowledge to ensure our soils, water 
and vegetation are managed properly and invasive pests 
are controlled.

•	 Maintaining and improving international market access 
opportunities – through work to combat pests and 
diseases that can potentially be obstructive to trade and 
to guide production decisions in accordance with the 
requirements of consumers.

•	 Value chain effectiveness and efficiency – investment in 
research and development must extend beyond the farm 
gate to ensure the whole value chain is able to operate at 
optimum levels.

•	 Biosecurity – maintain our research capability to prevent 
and deal with disease outbreaks, particularly as such 
biosecurity threats are expected to become more 
prevalent with climate change.

•	 Workforce, skills, education – the RDCs should be taking 
a strong role in educating future scientists, improving 
the knowledge and skills of producers and encouraging 
people to work in the sector.

•	 Diversity – the RDCs should take a greater role in building 
strong leadership capacity in the sector and encourage 
a diversity of people in primary industries, including a 
greater role for Indigenous Australians, women and 
young people.

•	 Collaboration – the National Primary Industries Research, 
Development and Extension Framework is now in place. 
RDCs are working to establish an RD&E forum and 
implement the cross-sectoral plans. 

•	 Evaluation – RDCs should support the current joint RDC 
evaluation process to demonstrate returns on investment 
and guide future investment decisions.
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Joint Activities with other Research  
and Development Corporations and 
Industry Services Companies

FWPA participates in a range of joint-RDC activities 
under the auspices of the Council of Rural Research & 
Development Corporation Chairs. The Council operates 
to facilitate learning from the collective experiences of 
Research and Development Corporations with respect 
to issue of reporting, communication, accountability and 
implementation of Government policy directives.

Joint initiatives that FWPA participated in during 2010/11 
included:

•	 Evaluation	of	ethyl	formate	and	nitrogen	for	
disinfestation of eucalyptus weevil on export apples 
(PRC178-0910)

 FWPA provided assistance to support a project being 
investigated by Horticulture Australia Limited (HAL). The 
benefit of this work will be to minimise the impact of 
eucalyptus weevils on apple exports from the southwest 
of Western Australia. 

•	 National	Climate	Change	Research	Strategy	for	
Primary Industries (CCRSPI) (PRC226-1011)

 CCRSPI involves Australia’s primary industries working 
together on climate change including the State primary 
industries agencies, the Rural Research and Development 
Corporations (including FWPA), the Australian 
Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and 
Forestry and the CSIRO.

FWPA has also partnered with other RDCs to develop an 
agreed Life Cycle Inventory assessment model to report the 
impacts of agricultural industries in terms of water and land 
use changes. These measures are subsequently used to 
support Life Cycle Assessments of agricultural products to 
report comparative environmental impacts as well as used 
by industry to minimise the net environmental impact of 
their production current systems. A research consortium of 
LCI practitioners is developing a collaborative assessment 
methodology on behalf of the major agricultural sectors.

In addition, FWPA is working in partnership with the GWRDC 
to provide the treated timber and vineyard industries with up 
to date information and knowledge as to the environmental 
performance and safety of treated timber posts as well as 
data on new product formulations and systems likely to be 
available to the market over coming years. 

p	End-of-life for treated pine posts in vineyard applications is 
a topic of ongoing discussion for FWPA and the GWRDC..



 16 OPERATIONS

Promote the benefits and usage of forests 
and wood products, in accord with changing 
community attitudes, environmental awareness, 
and market trends.

Defining our objectives

This strategy aims to increase the use of forest and 
wood products by promoting the benefits of wood. 
By engendering a positive attitude to the use of wood 
products and an awareness of their advantages, their use 
will increase in both decorative and structural applications. 
Complementary messages about the advantages of forest 
and wood products are designed to address any real or 
perceived impediments to their use.

In addition to promoting forest and wood products, this 
strategy includes a secondary objective of promoting the 
industry itself. Many organisations and individuals either do 
not know, or are confused about, the role and activities of 
the forest and wood products industry. We aim to develop 
a better understanding of the industry as a whole and 
its potential to significantly contribute to a sustainable, 
productive national economy. 

As in past years, market research tracking people’s attitudes 
indicates that the forest and wood products industry is 
viewed as a credible source of this information – more so 
than many other industry sectors.

	Reliable source of information about the environment.

Source: Truth-Serum (slide 74 – tracker 6)

Activities within the industry promotion strategy frequently 
incorporate the results of FWPA-funded R&D projects 
and technology transfer activities, especially the 
WoodSolutions™ program, aimed at building material 
specifiers. This congruence of activities and cross-usage 
of information demonstrates the value of an integrated 
strategic plan and lateral communications.

Understanding our stakeholders 
and audiences

To be most effective, communications must be planned 
with knowledge and reliable information. Similarly, 
program development in our other strategies requires an 
understanding of community attitudes, market movements, 
stakeholder needs and regulator and government policies 
and intentions.

Gaining this information is a continuing process, combining 
both formal market research and informal discussions with 
stakeholders and allied and partner organisations.

During the past year, formal research involved two tracker 
studies (numbers 5 and 6) and a series of focus groups.

The tracker studies, which use a consistently selected 
national sample of some 1,000 people to deliver statistically 
useful results, showed a continuation of previously observed 
trends. Areas covered include:

•	 Attitudes towards building materials and their attributes

•	 The role of various considerations in the choice of 
materials

•	 Awareness of sources of information and their reliability

•	 Understanding of the carbon cycle and the roles of forest 
and wood products

•	 Degree of recall of FWPA advertising and related 
communications.

The focus groups were conducted to explore a range of 
communication propositions and further investigate people’s 
attitudes to issues such as forestry, wood products and 
the environment.

Targeting audiences with branded 
communication channels 

During the year, we continued to develop the twin-channel 
strategy of using the Wood. Naturally Better.™ consumer 
program to focus on the benefits of using wood products 
and WoodSolutions™ activities to provide information about 
wood and wood products.

Wood. Naturally Better.™ is aimed at a broad consumer 
audience, while WoodSolutions™ is aimed at a subset – 
building specifiers (people who are involved in the choice of 
building materials – including architects, engineers, building 
designers, developers and other building professionals).

This strategy is based on the results of research over many 
years, often funded by FWPA (and its predecessor) that 
found lack of knowledge was a major barrier to increased 
use of wood in building construction.

STRATEGY ONE:

INDUSTrY prOmOTION
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WHY use wood HOW to use wood

Communicated benefits Communicated information

•	 environmental
 – carbon storage
 – low embodied carbon
 – renewable
 – recyclable
 – LCA
 – R rating
 – Legality
 – Certification (AFS, PEFC, FSC)

•	 aesthetic

•	 economic
 – cost-effective
 – rural and regional economies

•	 performance
 – engineered products
 – treatments

•	 technical design guides

•	 building codes and standards

•	 R&D reports

•	 teaching resources

•	 species properties

•	 general technical data

•	 building applications

•	 BCA information

•	 case studies

•	 supplier listings

Channels Channels

•	 paid media
 – television (Planet Ark’s Environmental Edge)
 – print/press
 – online

•	 unpaid media
 – industry publications

•	 www
 – Wood. Naturally Better.™ 
 – Environmental Edge (a Planet Ark site)

•	 partnerships, sponsorships and PR

•	 Program Partners

•	 www
 – WoodSolutions™
 – linked supplier sites

•	 publications
 – manuals
 – bulletins

•	 unpaid media
 – professional publications and newsletters

•	 events
 – WoodSolutions™ Seminars

•	 partnerships, sponsorships and PR

Wood. Naturally Better.™ communicates the benefits 
of wood as a material – the WHY to use wood. 
WoodSolutions™ follows with the next step, information 
about using wood – the HOW to use wood.

The following diagram, updated from last year’s Annual 
Report, summarises the roles of the two communication 
streams and their respective channels.
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The Wood. Naturally Better.™ Program

The first stage of the Wood. Naturally Better.™ consumer 
print advertising was created to reinforce the perception 
that wood was beautiful, fashionable and aspirational. It also 
introduced the fact that (because it stores carbon) wood 
helps tackle climate change – market research showed that 
more than 60% of Australian adults were unaware of this.

In March 2010, the campaign evolved to build upon on the 
established base with new print advertisements and a range 
of other communication and resource initiatives aimed at 
both consumer and specifier markets.

Research indicated that the print advertising results were 
good, continuing to increase awareness. While the results 
exceeded benchmarks established by similar advertising 
in similar markets, an analysis suggested that the print 
campaign had plateaued and would require significantly 
larger investment but with only incremental benefits.

Following a review of media options, research of 
communication messages, creative executions and potential 
presenters, the decision was made to proceed with a 
television campaign. The opportunity to work with one of 
our partners, Planet Ark, and be the subject of the first of 
its Environmental Edge television ‘infomercials’ added extra 
weight to the decision.

New television and print 
collateral campaign

Following extensive analysis and research (previously 
mentioned in this report), the decision was made to proceed 
with a television campaign, hosted by Peter Maddison, 
an award-winning architect and host of Grand Designs 
Australia – a popular program on pay television.

The commercial is designed to follow the key messages of 
the preceding print advertising and communicate the fact 
that because wood stores carbon, using more wood has 
positive environmental benefits.

Launched in June 2011 on free to air and pay television with 
a media budget in excess of $1 million, the commercial is 
primarily targeted at audiences of building and renovation 
programs, complemented by other high-rating shows.

The opportunity to be the first product featured in Planet 
Ark’s new Environmental Edge increases both the cut-
through and memorability of the commercial.

Wood. Naturally Better.™  
print collateral

During the year, the Wood. Naturally Better.™ brochure was 
reproduced, updated and rewritten in a DL format. This 
allowed us to include more information and feature a link to 
the television commercial.

This brochure is widely distributed at events in which Wood. 
Naturally Better.™ participates, and through Wood. Naturally 
Better.™ Program Partners at their events and premises.

A range of other collateral, including banners and posters 
was produced for use at events involving Wood. Naturally 
Better.™ or Planet Ark.

	Wood. Naturally Better.™ brochure. 

	Environmental Edge: Wood & 
Carbon 30 Second TVC featuring 
Peter Maddison.
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Print advertising 

The print advertising developed in 2009/10 continued, as 
planned, into 2010/11. Using the theme “You can tackle…” 
the campaign has three versions. Each focuses on a specific 
area in which wood is used; construction (framing), interior 
(floor and furniture) and exterior (cladding and landscaping). 

The print advertising was supported by online advertising to 
encourage people to click-through and find out more about 
the benefits of wood.

The online advertising 
continued to generate 
click-throughs, especially 
from sites relating to 
home renovations.

t	Wood. Naturally 
Better.™ phase two print 
media campaign featuring 
Letterbox House.

WoodSolutions™. Design and Build.

Research has continually identified the lack of readily 
accessible, credible information as a major impediment to 
architects, engineers, building designers and other specifiers 
using wood-based products. 

WoodSolutions™ has been created to address this need.

Resourced by FWPA, WoodSolutions™ is an industry 
initiative designed to provide information on timber and 
wood products to professionals and companies involved in 
building design and construction. 

www.woodsolutions.com.au

This is an online industry database that aims to make 
information about the use of wood and timber products 
more accessible to building specifiers. The information 
has been sourced from research studies, technical guides, 
building codes and standards. It also provides a link to 
product suppliers so it can be the single, authoritative 
source of information.

This is a huge undertaking, potentially running to hundreds 
of thousands of pages of data. After extensive scoping and 
development, the site was launched late in the 2010/11 
financial year.

Initially, it is populated with data from existing sources. 
However, as the project grows we will be inviting industry 
bodies, companies and organisations to contribute content 
and provide links from the relevant sections to their own 
online information.

This is an exciting development for our industry and has 
the potential to be a world first and a leading example 
of how the internet can aggregate and disseminate 
complex information.

p	New WoodSolutions concept design promoting 
WoodSolutions activities and resources.

	Wood Solutions Technical Design Guides.

Technical Design Guides

WoodSolutions Technical Design Guides are part of a suite 
of technical and training resources produced to support the 
use of wood and how it can be specified. Since the launch 
of the WoodSolutions website, FWPA has received excellent 
feedback from building professionals who appreciate the 
guides are available to download. A suite of 10 guides have 
been completed with a further five commissioned. 
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WoodSolutions™ Sponsorships 
and Events

Internationally, comparable industry programs, such as the 
North American Wood-Works have incorporated events 
targeted at the specifier markets.

WoodSolutions™ 2010 was a one-day seminar aimed 
at architects, building designers and engineers, held in 
Brisbane, Sydney and Melbourne in September 2010.

The comprehensive program includes local and international 
speakers – architects, engineers and scientists – and 
attendance qualifies architects, engineers and building 
designers for continuing professional development (CPD) 
points where applicable.

Attendee feedback was excellent:

“I went to a great seminar on Tuesday – 
WoodSolutions™. It was without a doubt the best 
seminar I have ever been to.” 

Nicholas Diemar, Senior Structural/Civil Engineer, 
IZZAT Consulting Engineers

“There is a resurgence of interest in the use of 
timber in the construction industry. WoodSolutions™ 
2010 captures the highlights and provides a great 
overview for architects and engineers, developers 
and builders. There was a great mixture of 
information and a timely update at this time in our 
history. I’m glad I went.” 

Richard Hough, Arup

“I learnt a whole lot about the carbon impact of using 
timber and the knowledge is something I would 
definitely use in future projects.’’  

Andrew Keag, Delfin Lend Lease 

WoodSolutions™ 2011 Seminars will be held in September 
in Adelaide, Sydney and Melbourne. 

In addition, WoodSolutions™ sponsored and participated in 
a select range of events and activities, including:

•	 Fire Safety Engineering Conference

•	 2011 HIA Housing Awards

•	 designEX

•	 Australian Institute of Building Surveyors state and 
national conferences

•	 Australian Institute of Architects National Seminar Series

•	 Architech seminars, NSW Australian Institute 
of Architects.

Delivering a more powerful message 
through partnerships

Partnership: Planet Ark  
(Wood. Naturally Better.™ Program)

In addition to creating and airing a TV commercial under 
Planet Ark’s Environmental Edge banner, FWPA has been 
working with Planet Ark to support the launch of a new 
campaign in October 2011. The Make it Wood campaign 
will join National Tree Day and other Planet Ark campaigns 
that promote various ways people can act to make a 
positive difference to the environment.

Partnership: Australian Institute of Architects 
(AIA) (WoodSolutions™ Program)

During the year, a range of activities were undertaken with 
various divisions of the AIA. These activities are building 
a relationship with the organisation and specifiers and 
include sponsorship of Continuum, the AIA’s professional 
training division.

Involving industry through  
Wood. Naturally Better.™  
Partner Program & Sponsorships

Licensing businesses and organisations in the industry 
to use the logo is helping increase awareness and make 
Wood. Naturally Better.™ a more valuable asset to promote 
the use of wood and timber products.

The Wood. Naturally Better.™ Partner Program is free to 
businesses and organisations operating in the forest and 
wood industry and licenses them to use the logo in their 
branding and communications.

To date, about 1,000 companies and industry-related 
organisations have joined the program. 
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p	National Carpenters Day – Jarrod Flanigan (MBA Vic); Mark 
Devitt (AEG); Cheryl Unwin (VIC and National Carpenter of the 
Year 2011); Laurice Temple (NAWIC); Jason Kemp (Paslode); 
and FWPA Managing Director Ric Sinclair.

Sponsorships

Carefully chosen sponsorships can be a cost-effective way of 
generating awareness and media coverage.

During the past year, Wood. Naturally Better.™ sponsored 
and participated in a select range of events and activities, 
including:

•	 National Carpenters Day

•	 Australian Timber Design Awards

•	 Master Builders Australia 2010 National Building and 
Construction Awards

•	 Built Environment Meets Parliament

•	 Sustainable House Day

•	 Consumer ad campaign in conjunction with Planet Ark

•	 Bjørn Lomborg and Michael Green conference and 
media tour. 

Bjørn Lomborg and Michael Green Tour

One of the major difficulties in generating awareness of the 
environmental advantages of wood is lack of audience interest 
– it’s low on most people’s agendas. To overcome this, FWPA 
sponsored a national tour by leading Canadian architect and 
wood advocate, Michael Green, accompanied by Professor 
Bjørn Lomborg. 

Named as one of the “50 people who could save the planet” 
by the UK’s Guardian newspaper and one of the 75 most 
influential people by Time magazine, Professor Lomborg 
proved a successful drawcard for media and audiences.

p	Top: Peter Verwer (CEO Property Council), Bjørn Lomborg 
(Adjunct Professor, Copenhagen Business School) and 
Michael Green (Principal, McFarlane Green Biggar (MGB), 
Architecture and Design at Green Cities 2011.

p	Above left: Chris Philpot from Planet Ark with 
Rebecca Gillings at Melbourne Home Show.

p	Above right: Archicentre’s David Hallett at the Melbourne 
Home Show.

Presentations included:

•	 Green Cities 2011, The Green Building Council of 
Australia’s annual conference, Melbourne

•	 Outlook 2011, Canberra

•	 Economics & Regional Development Round Table, 
Canberra

•	 Australian Institute Of International Affairs, Melbourne

•	 Lowy Institute, Sydney

•	 Planet Ark’s 18th Birthday Celebration, Sydney

The tour also generated extensive media coverage, 
including national television and print.
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FWPA is committed to ensuring that its R&D 
investments have a strategic focus and will 
deliver real outcomes to the industry and to 
the Australian Government. This is achieved 
through the development and implementation 
of R&D investment plans, appropriate resource 
allocation, leveraging sector expertise through 
our advisory groups, benefit-cost analysis of the 
research portfolio and tech transfer. Tech transfer 
is undertaken under Strategy 3.

During the past year, FWPA commissioned, continued or 
finalised some 80 individual research projects. Details of the 
results and outcomes of selected projects are reported in 
case studies throughout this section.

Delivering benefits to stakeholders

FWPA’s R&D investments are made on the basis that they 
respond to industry and government needs to deliver 
evident benefits to all stakeholders (FWPA members, levy 
payers and the Australian government).

Typical benefits include:

•	 Contributing to the development or improvement of new 
products matched to market needs

•	 Increasing the industry’s profitability and efficient use of 
inputs throughout the value chain

•	 Improving the industry’s investment confidence by 
identification and management of risk

•	 Increasing the industry’s economic, social and 
environmental sustainability measures. 

R&D planning and investment priorities

The R&D planning and review process operates to ensure 
that levy-funded projects respond to the needs of industry 
and deliver results that are applicable and of value to the 
broadest range of stakeholders along the value chain.

FWPA uses a rigorous three-step planning methodology 
to identify R&D investments, both individual projects or 
program areas.

The three steps are:

•	 FWPA R&D Investment priorities

•	 Ranking & Resource allocation

•	 Portfolio management and stakeholder engagement.

12 FWPA R&D investment priorities

During the year, FWPA continued the process of finalisation 
and publication of its R&D investment plans. Eight of the 
investment plans have been completed and published. 
The remaining four plans are under development and are 
expected to be endorsed for implementation in early 2012. 
The plans describe in detail the industry outcomes sought 
from R&D investments and specify the elements of the 
supply chain that FWPA members view as priority action 
points. The investment plans are developed in conjunction 
with the industry advisory groups, based upon a program 
of detailed consultation and engagement with industry 
stakeholders and research providers. 

Details of FWPA investment priorities and industry outcomes 
are described in detail below.

Completed investment plans are published on the 
company’s website and serve as the basis of calls for 
research proposals from the research community. 

1 Information, analysis and interpretation of 
domestic and export markets

 With this knowledge the industry can supply products 
that anticipate and satisfy the needs of various markets. 
Activities include competitive analysis and detecting, 
evaluating and monitoring trends and business and 
consumer purchasing behaviour. Investment plan has 
been published on the company website.

2 Timber construction in residential buildings 

 R&D investments in this area will help describe the drivers 
for increased use of timber within housing construction 
to deliver an increase in the net volume of wood products 
used in Australian residential construction. Investment 
plan has been published on the company website.

3 Timber construction in commercial and 
industrial buildings

 Contrary to the emerging international trend, there has 
been limited use of wood as a construction material 
in medium- to high-density buildings higher than three 
storeys. The investment in research in this area is leading 
to the knowledge, technology and products to develop 
this untapped market. 

4 Wood products in sustainable buildings

 Research outcomes from this program are directed 
towards an increase in the market share for wood 
products by preferred specification and by mandatory 
building codes and other regulatory requirements 
for sustainable building materials in residential and 
commercial construction. Investment plan has been 
published on the company website.

STRATEGY TWO:

rESEarCH & DEvELOpmENT
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5 Development of secondary products and markets 
for them

 Improving and increasing the use of the whole tree 
through developing value-added secondary products 
will minimise waste and maximise the return from 
each tree harvested. R&D investments in this area are 
identifying and analysing secondary products and their 
markets. Investment plan has been published on the 
company website.

6 Solid wood, engineered wood and pulp and paper 
products: Performance and yield

 Recognising and responding to market needs enables the 
forest and wood products industry to optimise systems 
and maximise production of appropriate products.

 This supports the industry’s aim to create a better product 
by optimising production systems for energy use, drying, 
cutting, grading and sorting of wood. Developing quality 
control systems will create a more consistent product, 
particularly for structural applications. 

7 Maximising product yields and values from 
current resources

 Increasing the yield of commercial products from 
each tree will increase profitability. Research into the 
productivity, characteristics, properties and variability of 
wood resources and identifying the most commercially 
viable applications and products realises maximum value 
and reduces unnecessary processing. 

8 Forest management tools to improve wood quality 
and yield

 Forest managers need to optimise their forest 
management systems to make logs that processors 
value. The delivery and use of decision support tools to 
aid management of site productivity across rotations, 
forest planning to add value to log products, forest 
health and nutrition as well as supply chain optimisation 
all assist in the optimisation of product values and 
returns. Investment plan has been published on the 
company website.

9 Genetic improvement and delivery for increased wood 
yield and quality and for managing risks

 Planting is the first opportunity to control the quality 
and volume of commercial timber. This investment 
priority focuses on improvements to the planted estate 
in terms of accelerated deployment of genetic gain into 
new plantings, improvements in stiffness and strength 
properties of commercial softwoods, and matching of 
genetics to environment to optimise estate productivity 
and value. Investment plan has been published on the 
company website.

10 Water use efficiency, access to resources and 
balanced policy outcomes

 The activities supported under this program focus on 
improving knowledge and understanding of the roles and 
impacts of commercial plantations on regional water use, 
improved remote sensing technologies to evaluate water 
use by forest estates and comparative analysis of water 
usage rates of competing land uses. Investment plan has 
been published on the company website.

11 Forest biosecurity and preparedness

 In a global environment, forest resources face increased 
risk from imported pests and diseases. This risk can be 
reduced by an awareness of the immediate environment 
and its own risks, and the available controls including 
biological controls. Developing risk profiles of pests and 
forest diseases will lead to informed risk management 
strategies. Developing responses to prioritised risks 
will ensure the best outcome for industry and the 
environment. Investment plan has been published on the 
company website.

12 Mitigation of and adaptation to climate change and 
the management of the carbon cycle in plantation 
and native forests

 Assessing the impact of climate change on plantation 
productivity will increase understanding of the non-
commercial values of carbon in plantation and native 
forests, and help industry make its long-term planning 
decisions. Research funding in this area will support 
improvements in and testing of existing process-based 
growth models as well as the development of linked 
integrated risk and impact assessment tools that can 
be applied at the required spatial scale to assist industry 
decision-making in regards to risks to productivity and 
profitability. Investment plan has been published on the 
company website.
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Ranking & resource allocation

The allocation of funding resources to the R&D program 
is an annual Board decision taken in consideration of 
currently contracted project commitments and the level of 
forecast activity.

The level of funding committed to each R&D priority is 
based upon the anticipated returns to industry in relation 
to industry gain or risk – priorities linked to market or 
productivity gains are accorded a higher level of funding 
than those targeted at risk management or mitigation. 
Where possible, FWPA seeks to attract third party cash 
or in-kind funding contributions to leverage its project 
investments. This provides a direct multiplier to FWPA levy 
resources as well as signalling the degree of stakeholder 
commitment and support for particular project outcomes.

When considering endorsement of active research 
proposals, the company weighs up the following factors:

•	 alignment to endorsed investment plans

•	 level of funding requested 

•	 skills, capacity and prior performance of research team

•	 industry support and commitment via in-kind and cash 
co-contributions, and tech transfer and adoption plans. 

The Board has established three levels of project funding 
approval depending on the proposed project budget and 
timeframe: the Managing Director; the Board R&D sub-
committee, or the full Board. This combination, guided 
by the advisory groups, enables appropriate and efficient 
investment approval. All projects approved under the various 
delegations are reported to the full Board at its next meeting. 

Project management and 
stakeholder engagement

All funding is managed through a contractual relationship 
with the research provider, which specifies key milestones 
and project requirements. 

All major projects require a project steering committee made 
up of FWPA, key researchers and independent industry 
representatives, traditionally members of FWPA advisory 
groups. The engagement of independent representatives 
on the steering committees helps to ensure close contact 
between the research providers and the proposed users of 
beneficiaries of the project results.

In addition, most projects require peer review and a tech 
transfer and adoption plan. This ensures that final outcomes 
are valid and are delivered in the form most conducive to 
stakeholder use and adoption. 

Benefit-cost analysis

In accordance with the evaluation methodologies developed 
collectively by the Research and Development Corporations, 
a sampled subset of FWPA’s completed project portfolio 
is independently evaluated for public and private benefit 
returns to stakeholders. The results of these assessments 
are communicated to Government and industry to highlight 
the industry specific and broader community returns 
generated through levy funded R&D activities. 

FWPA Industry Advisory Groups 

To fulfil its objectives of creating value and opportunity for 
its levy payers and members, FWPA operates a series of 
industry advisory groups (AGs). The AGs are formed to 
provide specific advice and feedback on industry R&D 
needs and the development of relevant R&D investment 
plans to guide FWPA project funding decisions.

Other significant R&D issues (external to the established 
investment priorities) identified by FWPA members and 
stakeholders will continue to be considered for funding 
by exception on a case-by-case basis. It is anticipated 
that these projects will include substantial industry 
endorsement and commitment of in-kind resources to the 
proposed project.

An example of activities funded under these provisions 
was funding provided to Industry and Investment NSW to 
support the taxonomic identification of Myrtle rust (Puccinia 
psidii) and to determinate host susceptibility of commercial 
plantation species after the rust was initially detected 
in NSW in 2010. The results of this work were used to 
inform the Government and industry response plan to 
the incursion. 

FWPA’s three advisory groups cover the full supply chain: 
market access, processing and forest growing. The 
groups meet throughout the year and review and critique 
investment plans and project proposals to ensure that the 
subsequent investments have a strong align to industry 
needs and address genuine information gaps. 

The three groups, which are structured to cover the whole 
value chain, are:

•	 Market Access and Development Advisory Group

•	 Wood Products Advisory Group

•	 Sustainability and Resources Advisory Group

Details of 2010/11 Advisory Group memberships are 
provided on the opposite page.
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Market Access and  
Development Advisory Group

Mr Ron Adams (Chair) 
Wespine Industries Pty Ltd

Ms Christine Briggs 
Auspine Pty Ltd

Mr Clinton Skeoch 
Boral Timber Division

Mr Tim Sherry 
Carter Holt Harvey Woodproducts 
Australia

Mr David Marlay 
Hyne Timber

Mr David Meyer 
Meyer Timber Pty Ltd

Mr John Simon 
Simmonds Lumber Group

Mr Matthew Wood 
Stora Enso Timber Australia Pty Ltd

Prof. Ian Ferguson 
University of Melbourne Department  
of Forest & Ecosystem Science

Mr Gerry Gardiner 
Asian Pacific Timber Marketing Pty Ltd

Mr Gary Kiddle 
Wespine Industries Pty Ltd

Sustainability and Resources 
Advisory Group

Mr Evan Rolley (Chair) 
FWPA Director

Dr Ben Bradshaw 
Australian Bluegum Plantations Pty Ltd

Mr Edwin Schramm 
Bunbury Treefarm Project

Mr Ian Dumbrell 
Department of Agriculture & Food  
(WA Government)

Mr Stephen Walker 
Department of Environment & 
Resource Management (DERM)

Dr Marie Connett 
Elders Forestry Limited

Dr Ross Dickson 
Forestry Commission of NSW  
T/As Forests NSW

Dr Jim O’Hehir 
Forestry SA

Mr John Hickey 
Forestry Tasmania

Mr Stephen Elms 
Hancock Victorian Plantations Pty Ltd 
(HVP)

Mr Andrew Morgan 
SFM Environmental Solutions

Mr Don Aurik 
Timberlands Pacific Pty Ltd

Mr Barry Vaughan 
VicForests

Wood Products Processing 
Advisory Group

Mr Vince Erasmus (Chair) 
Elders Forestry Limited

Mr Peter Robinson 
Boral Timber Division

Mr Kim Harris 
Carter Holt Harvey Woodproducts 
Australia

Mr Michael Murphy 
Carter Holt Harvey Woodproducts 
Australia

Mr Allan Hutley 
Australian Solar Timbers

Dr Trevor Innes 
Gunns Ltd

Mr Andrew Hurford 
Hurford Sawmilling Pty Ltd

Mr Stephen Holtorf 
Hyne Timber

Mr Chris McEvoy 
Radial Timber Australia

Mr Damien Simpson 
The Australian Sawmilling Company 
Pty Ltd (TASCO)

Mr Craig Kay 
Tilling Timber Pty Ltd

Mr Peter Law 
Wesbeam Pty Ltd

Mr Greg Duff 
Wespine Industries Pty Ltd
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CASE STUDY

Salisbury Research Centre

Dr Henri Bailleres,  
Team leader process and product development

The Salisbury Research Centre is Queensland’s 
Department of Employment, Economic Development and 
Innovation’s forest product research and development 
facility. It has an impressive array of timber processing 
machinery for exploring new methods of producing 
timber products economically and effectively.

Over the past year, Dr Henri Bailleres has been the Team 
leader of process and product development. Henri came 
to Salisbury on a three-year secondment from CIRAD, 
the French Agricultural Research Centre for International 
Development. His connection with Australian trees goes 
back to his PhD when he studied tropical eucalyptus 
clones and hybrids in the Congo in Africa.

Henri is excited about his team’s continuing development 
of wood products, particularly with the changing 
nature of the resource as more plantation timber 
becomes available. 

“We have to think differently with wood; think of it as a 
new product and what we can do with it,” Henri says. 

With FWPA support, recent important research includes 
acoustic grading, composite wood panels, and vacuum 
drying of subtropical timber species. A current project 
is studying exciting uses for small diameter roundwood 
(such as pulp logs and thinnings from sawlog plantations) 
in innovative building methods. Using steam, the poles 
are bent around a form to produce arched structural 
members providing a wide range of design options.

Henri is keen for wood researchers nationally to work 
together with the Salisbury team. 

“As a research and development team we’d like to 
expand our scope Australia-wide. From my perspective 
when we work at the national level we also add much 
more to the Queensland wood industry,” he says. FWPA 
would also be pleased to see that happening.

CASE STUDY

Breeding for success

Dr Tony McRae, General Manager,  
Southern Tree Breeding Association Inc.

Since it was established in 1983 as a not-for-profit cooperative, 
the Southern Tree Breeding Association (STBA) has been 
instrumental in improving the genetic material of commercial 
tree species such as Radiata pine and Eucalyptus globulus (blue 
gum). From local beginnings at Mount Gambier the association 
has expanded its membership among tree growers and 
research organisations across Australasia. Its skills in managing 
plant genetics have also seen it helping internationally with the 
breeding of trees and potatoes – vital for world food supplies. 

Dr Tony McRae has been General Manager since 2001, having 
joined in 1998 as principal geneticist. Although his original PhD 
work was in quantitative genetics with animal breeding, his skills 
took him from researching genetics in sugar cane on to trees. 

“It’s easy to learn biology and go from species to species — 
even from animals to plants — but it’s hard to learn quantitative 
genetics, it’s not an easy game!” Tony says. Today, he’s still an 
active scientist, often project leading STBA research.

FWPA is pleased to have helped support important STBA 
projects including:

•	 TREEPLAN which analyses genetic and tree performance 
data across the industry to identify trees that are superior in 
productivity, quality and economic value

•	 SEEDPLAN (deployment) and MATEPLAN (breeding) makes 
efficient use of national databases for plantation tree genetics 
to deliver the most appropriate seed and plants to growers 
based on factors such as regional climate, soil type, pest and 
disease risks and economic returns for forest products

•	 Germplasm conservation safeguards ‘wild’ genetic 
material from trees previously brought into Australia from 
the regions where radiata pine originated: Monterey, Año 
Nuevo and Cambria in the United States, and Guadalupe 
and Cedros Islands in Mexico. The project is of particular 
importance as the spread of pitch canker disease means 
no more pine plants or seeds can be brought into 
Australia, which otherwise might genetically restrict future 
commercial plantations

The benefits of the STBA’s work, and of the contributions from 
its members and FWPA, will be with the industry for generations.

p	Henri Bailleres

	L-R: Jeremy Cookson, Tony McRae, Peter Buxton, Richard 
Kerr, Chris Lafferty and Greg Dutkowksi performing controlled 
pollination at the National Genetic Resource Centre.
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RESEARCH HIGHLIGHTS  
2010-2011

Development of technical educational resources 
and support of Continuing Professional 
Development, tertiary and trade level education 
and training to support and educate existing and 
future users/specifiers of timber products

PNA024-0809 

The Technical Resources Program (TRP) maintains and 
develops professional educational resources for continuing 
professional development (CPD) courses delivered through 
established architectural, engineering and building related 
programs. It provides support to a national network 
of more than 165 university lecturers in engineering, 
architecture, building and design as well as more than 
1,000 TAFE teachers in carpentry and joinery (part-time 
and full-time), building, architectural drafting and design. 
The TRP assists by delivering highly relevant educational 
resources and responding to timber related enquiries. As a 
result the industry has more than 120,000 student contact 
hours at universities and more than 1.2 million hours at 
TAFE Institutes.

The main focus of the CPD program is developing 
resources targeted at educating practising design/building 
professionals. The majority of professional bodies require 
members to achieve a minimum number of hours of 
structured CPD to keep their skills and knowledge attuned 
to current industry practices. The CPD programs provide 
an excellent opportunity to increase specifier knowledge of 
timber and wood products, as well as enabling industry to 
demonstrate the positive benefits of specifying and using 
timber products.

Reducing fire regulatory barriers and standards 
on timber and wood products

PNA025-0809

Timber and wood-based products are used consistently 
in both single-family homes and low-rise, multi-residential 
timber-framed construction (MRTFC). In contrast, the use 
of these products in commercial buildings higher than two 
storeys is severely limited by regulations in the Building 
Code of Australia (BCA), often due to a perceived fire risk. 
In addition, as a result of recent devastating bushfires, there 
are additional restrictions placed on timber used in and 
around buildings.

This project investigated five fire-related issues that limit 
market opportunities for timber and wood products. 
Researchers conducted a large number of tests that 
advanced the knowledge of how different timber species 
and building methods respond to fire.

The most spectacular 
experiment involved 
building a full-scale test 
room to investigate 
whether timber studs 
protected by fire rated 
plasterboard reduce 
the severity of a 
compartment fire in a 
typical Class 3 building. 
A second full-scale test 
compared the severity 

of such fires in a non-combustible fire-rated, steel framed 
building. The experiment showed that the severity of fires 
within the two compartments was comparable and that 
the timber studs in the bounding walls, timber joists and 
combustible insulation did not increase the fire severity. 
As a result, the BCA Class 2 buildings provisions could be 
extended to include Class 3 buildings. This would allow 
timber to be used in buildings such as hotels, motels and 
resorts that are low rise and in suitable locations.

The entire project helped the timber industry to supply 
products into previously restricted markets. It has saved 
significant expenditure and duplicate testing by removing 
the need for individual companies to conduct these tests or 
source the data themselves.

Development of an embodied CO2 emissions 
module for AccuRate

PNA161-0910

AccuRate is a residential energy rating software for 
Australian houses developed by CSIRO. As building 
designers becomes more energy aware, AccuRate helps 
builders and architects understand and improve the heating 
and cooling energy efficiency of residential buildings, and 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Currently, Australian 
building regulations focus on assessing how much 
‘operational’ energy is used to heat and cool the building 
over its lifetime. To better understand the CO2 emitted 
during the building’s life cycle, AccuRate takes into account 
both the embodied and operational CO2emissions of 
a house.

The ‘embodied CO2’ is the total greenhouse gas emissions 
(i.e. CO2, CH4, N2O, etc) caused by resource extraction, 
transportation, manufacturing and fabrication of a product 
or system (cradle-to-factory gate). Emissions during 
the construction phase; those caused by maintenance 
and repair; and those at the end of the building’s life 

t	Reducing fire 
regulatory barriers.
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(i.e. demolition, transport to landfill, etc) were not 
considered. AccuRate also takes into account energy 
savings when a building product can be recycled.

AccuRate can show how timber compares favourably as a 
building product. For example, a 177 m2 house using timber 
wall and roof frames produces emissions of 30,488 kg of 
CO2 while storing 7,336 kg of CO2, which compares well 
with an identically sized steel-framed house that produces 
34,241 kg of CO2 and only stores 305 kg of CO2.

Accelerated H3 decay testing for the 
faster evaluation of alternative preservative 
timber treatments

PNB041-0708

The wood preservation and timber durability market is 
changing rapidly; new preservatives and protection systems 
must be quickly brought to market. While laboratory tests 
can be completed in a relatively short time (usually within 
six months), field tests are crucial in proving each new 
product’s reliable long-term performance. Even at a high 
hazard decay test site, such as in the wet tropics at Innisfail, 
H3 timber products still need 5–7 years of exposure to 
measure their effectiveness. H3 timbers are those treated 
with preservatives for external, above-ground use in 
structures such as pergolas and decking.

This research is developing and comparing a range of H3 
decay test methods most likely to cause accelerated decay. 
Test designs include increasing the proportion of water-
trapping surfaces in test samples, using pre-inoculated (with 
different wood rot causing fungi) untreated separator fillets 
and spacers, and using a combination of the Accelerated 
Field Simulator facility and field exposure. In addition, 
researchers reviewed H3 test methods and registration 
procedures in the USA and UK, as well as comparing a non-
destructive mechanical testing procedure for decay with the 
traditional method of inspecting by probing with a knife.

To date the trials have potentially reduced testing times from 
6–7 years down to 2 and 3 years, depending on individual 
test designs.

NIR assessment of resin quality for composite 
panel production

PNB169-0809

The commercial manufacture of medium density fibreboard 
MDF requires resin glues that are consistent and predictable 
to create uniform products. Although the resins – usually 
melamine-urea-formaldehyde (MUF) – are tested initially 
for a variety of properties including viscosity, pH and solids 
content, they may be affected by long-term storage or 
be modified by MDF manufacturers to enhance moisture 
resistance or minimise formaldehyde emissions. Testing the 
quality of resins during MDF manufacture can help ensure 
boards stay within specifications. 

Previous research indicated that near infrared (NIR) 
spectroscopy can determine the urea content of UF resins. 
To develop production scale and speed assessment 
methods, this report details both the spectroscopic 
characteristics of MUF resins and NIR calibration models 
for at-line characterisation of resin. It establishes that a NIR 
instrument can detect differences in ‘real-time’ in UF resin 
quality parameters sufficiently accurately to identify potential 
problems and enable correction. The report also determines 
that formaldehyde content decreases with length of storage 
and at higher temperatures.

Over an eight-week period at a commercial MDF plant, 
several resin properties were monitored at the spray nozzles 
to determine the resin’s variability. Over the entire period, 
there was little variation for all properties as predicted from 
the NIR spectra of the fresh resins. In addition the NIR 
system used in the trial proved to be very robust and easy 
to use, with the sample collection method eliminating the 
potential for contamination between samples.

u	Accelerated 
H3 decay trial.

	NIR assessment of resin quality.
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Managing subtropical pines for improved wood 
production based on a better understanding 
of genetics, silviculture, environment and their 
interactions

PNC057-0809

Australia’s subtropical pine plantations of slash pine (Pinus 
elliottii), Caribbean pine (Pinus caribaea), and their hybrids 
are an important source of high-quality, structural framing 
timber and engineered wood products. Growers are looking 
for the best financial returns from trees that grow quickly 
in subtropical climates and produce quality wood, graded 
by wood stiffness. Over the past decade or more, the 
hybrids have replaced Caribbean pine as the preferred tree 
species—slash pine having been replaced earlier.

This project used non-destructive sampling and analysis 
of growth and wood property data across two sites to 
examine wood property in these subtropical pine species 
and hybrids. Trials that approximate commercial thinning 
practices and rotation ages were done to isolate the 
most economic plantation management, harvesting and 
deployment alternatives.

Findings show slash pine has a higher density than 
Caribbean pine with the hybrid densities being between the 
two parents; slash pine also increases in density at a faster 
rate. Spiral grain comparisons showed slash pine had the 
least desirable grain angle values, while the hybrid angles 
were between the parents or similar to Caribbean pine. 
Acoustic velocity measurements show slash pine values 
are not changed much by stocking rate, whereas hybrid 
and Caribbean pine velocities reduce when grown at high 
stocking rates. This suggests they may be more affected by 
site conditions.

Development of a selection and implementation 
guide for the use of onboard systems for 
Australian forest operations

PNC119-0809

Over recent decades, forest operations have become 
increasingly mechanised, more capital intensive and more 
complex to manage. International experience in forest 
harvesting has shown that using computers on board 
harvesting machines ensures expensive equipment works 
most effectively, saving money for both forest managers and 
machine owners.

This project developed a guide, Enhancing forest machine 
efficiency: onboard computer selection and implementation 
guide, that provides detailed information on each type of 
onboard computer suitable for harvesting machines, and 
emphasises the importance of planning for the associated 
work-culture changes before their introduction.

The guide was written by CRC for Forestry staff, supported 
by FWPA and a number of forest owners and managers, 
and forest contractors. For more than a year, a range 
of onboard computer types were tested in three major 
field trials covering the main Australian forest harvesting 
systems and forest types. The trials provided evidence of 
the potential gains to be made using onboard computers; 
in particular, a striking productivity gain was made with 
small changes to log loading procedures, which resulted in 
significant returns to the forest contractor.

Six workshops were held across southern Australia to raise 
awareness of the guide and the potential benefits of using 
onboard computers. The guide is available on the websites 
of Forest and Wood Products Australia (FWPA) and the CRC 
for Forestry.

p	Wood core sampling of subtropical pines. p	DASA onboard computer. Image courtesy of FP Innovations.
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Active Genetic Conservation and Utilisation of 
native radiata pine germplasm for increasing 
genetic gain of growth, form and wood quality, 
and risk traits 

PNC135-0809

Breeding the best radiata pine trees for plantations means 
selecting for desirable wood traits but also ensuring 
that ‘unselected for’ ‘wild’ genes are not lost from the 
tree population. 

This important project is safeguarding genetic material from 
trees brought to Australia from the regions where radiata 
pine originated: Monterey, Ano Nuevo and Cambria in 
the United States, and Guadalupe and Cedros in Mexico. 
Between 1978 and 1982 seeds and cuttings from these 
regions were planted in genetic conservation trials in 
different parts of Australia. This has become particularly 
significant as the five native populations now total less than 
5,300 hectares, and the Guadalupe Island population is 
nearly extinct with only about 220 trees. In addition, the 
spread of pitch canker disease internationally means no pine 
plants or seeds can be brought into Australia.

The project is cataloguing the existing radiata pine 
conservation stands to provide forest managers with a long-
term management plan and a record of all genetic resource 
plantings. Seeds and cuttings from the conservation trials 
are being stored strategically for long-term conservation, 
while some genetic material is being used to establish 
second-generation conservation plantings at different 
sites in Australia and New Zealand to ensure long-term 
genetic security.

A comprehensive and large-scale genetic analysis of 
growth and wood quality traits revealed there is plenty of 
genetic variation in these populations. Superior trees are 
being archived for long-term gene conservation, as well 
as selected for current breeding populations. Their genetic 
material provides a unique opportunity to broaden the 
genetic base of the current breeding populations, increase 
productivity (wood volume, stiffness and stem straightness) 
and enable genetic adaptation to projected future 
environments (e.g. adaptation to climate change, pests and 
disease resistance).

Forest industry cooperative pesticide research, 
chemical registration, industry and community 
education, and chemical use and application 
regulation advice consortium 

PNC176-0910 

The consortium aims to maintain and increase the 
productive capacity of Australian plantations by ensuring 
the continued availability of effective, environmentally and 
socially acceptable chemical control options for weeds, 
pests and diseases. It coordinates forestry-specific 
pesticide research; develops and promotes industry best 
practice; provides considered scientific advice to the 
public, regulators, legislators and industry; and educates 
stakeholders via direct engagement, publications, seminars 
and field days.

The consortium has an active and engaged membership 
of 27, including 19 forest growers and four chemical 
companies. All members have input into activities, 
which are prioritised and overseen by a nominated 
Steering Committee.

On-going consortium activities include a program of 
screening trials looking at new and existing chemistry; and 
operational trials looking at existing chemistry, best practice, 
new practices, and other projects. Members directly 
contribute their expert knowledge into policy development 
and government submissions on important subjects such as 
myrtle rust, a single national framework and spray drift.

p	Active genetic conservation.
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Development of an Australian life cycle 
assessment methodology for building products

PRA026-0809

If designers and builders are to make informed choices 
about building materials and products based on a life cycle 
assessment (LCA) it is vital the underlying research is done 
fairly and in a scientifically objective manner. This project 
developed a methodology for compiling standardised life 
cycle inventory (LCI) data from building materials groups 
(including timber, steel, concrete and brick), and collected 
representative LCI data for each group’s Australian 
manufacturing processes.

A protocol for using LCI data was prepared to ensure LCA 
practitioners make correct use of the LCI data, and that fair 
comparisons between different elements of a building are 
made. Guidelines for the use of life cycle impact assessment 
parameters, such as classification, characterisation and 
normalisation, were clarified. Weightings for various 
environmental impacts in Australia were also developed 
to assist LCA practitioners, where needed, to combine all 
environmental impacts into one final score.

In the past, lack of Australian specific LCI data and incorrect 
assumptions have resulted in unreasonable comparisons; 
these methodologies go a long way to standardising LCA 
approaches and ensuring realistic comparisons are made. 
Simplified LCI data for sawn softwood, sawn hardwood 
and a range of engineered wood products from FWPA’s 
comprehensive forest and wood products LCI database are 
now included in the Building Products Innovation Council 
LCI database for use by industry, LCA practitioners and 
design tool developers. 

Scientifically based LCA is growing in recognition by policy 
makers and regulatory bodies and, as of June 2011, more 
than 250 people have registered to use the data.

Compromised Wood: Improving the properties 
of young radiata pine using fundamental 
chemical studies and non-destructive  
evaluation (NDE) techniques

PNC056-0809

While tree breeders have created value by selecting trees 
that grow quickly, have good form, and are well adapted 
to the planting regions, the intrinsic wood properties have 
remained largely unimproved. Researchers are developing 
techniques to identify saplings that display high stiffness and 
greatly reduced warp, including minimal twist. 

This project is screening stemwood for desirable attributes 
in the first two growth rings. Once pine seedlings are 30–40 
cm tall they are tilted to grow at 30°–45° to the vertical. By 
tilting, each seedling produces two wood types (normal/
opposite wood on the upper side and compression wood 
on the lower side of the leaning stem) that have distinctly 
different properties. The experiment isolates the two wood 
types and provides information on their properties and 
genetic variability. Trees are harvested at two to three 
years and their intrinsic wood properties assessed. First 
results from a field trial have shown that the methods can 
distinguish between good and poor families. 

The concept is that it is better to select for the best 
wood next to the pith, than to delay selection in order to 
improve wood next to the bark in 10–20 year old trees. 
This is because the price differential between the worst 
wood and average wood is very large, whereas the price 
differential between average wood and superior wood is 
surprisingly modest. 

Using this strategy, growers will get better financial returns 
by improving the worst wood next to the pith and by 
growing trees with improved genetic material 5–15 years 
earlier than has been previously possible. This reduction 
in the time to commercial deployment is potentially worth 
many millions of dollars.

	Pine seedlings in a tilted growth trial to 
isolate normal and compression wood.
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Policies and additional investment models 
to support continued plantation investment 
in Australia

PRA189-1011

Investors in Australian timber plantations frequently ask: “Is 
it profitable and how long before I get a return?” Compared 
with many other investment choices, new plantations have 
high establishment costs and a long waiting period before 
a return. Despite strong continued demand for sawn timber 
and a robust commercial market for established plantations 
in Australia, no significant areas of new long rotation sawlog 
plantations have been created since the early 1990s. 

This review considers strategies and investment models in 
Australia and overseas including those that have resulted 
in significant new commercial plantations and attracted a 
competitive processing industry. Polices and investment 
models are reviewed from two angles: first, policy is 
considered in terms of strategies to create continued 
plantation investment; and second, the investment models 
or mechanisms used to attract investment are considered.

Almost every country involved in plantation development 
has implemented some form of scheme at some stage 
of its development. The report looks at schemes used in 
Brazil, Uruguay, Chile, Great Britain, New Zealand, Portugal, 
Scandinavia and South Africa. In most cases, governments 
initiated plantation development either by directly investing, 
creating access to land or by legislating favourable taxation 
and other business incentives.

In Australia, the industry has maintained competitiveness 
through activities such as improved market information, 
research and development, the removal of impediments 
and resource security (e.g. harvest rights). Despite this, 
investment in new plantations is not currently profitable. 
The review found lowering the cost of access to land and 
introducing the sale of carbon in the form of a grant or 
forward purchase can increase profitability. Joint venture 
or farm forestry is a viable option if industry, farmers and 
government are prepared to support it. Other plantation 
funding mechanisms could include the current managed 
investment scheme taxation incentives but with tighter 
controls; government and/or investment institutions 
providing direct up-front grants to accredited plantation 
providers; or government providing competitive tax 
deductions or rebates. 

	Policies and investment into plantation.
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The activities under this strategy aim to grow the 
industry’s capacity and capability through the 
effective transfer of R&D findings and focused 
education activities that support the industry 
and its products.

Tech Transfer

Through its R&D investment plans, FWPA oversees the 
enhancement of the knowledge of industry best practice 
and the creation of new technologies. The benefit of such 
activities are only realised when adopted by the industry in 
its commercial practices. 

A key factor in all R&D projects is a requirement for the 
research provider to have an active program of engagement 
with industry and disseminate the R&D findings through 
appropriate mechanisms. There is also a requirement to 
provide plain English report summaries and highlights to 
make the R&D more accessible to a non-technical audience.

Effectively communicating R&D outcomes to industry 
stakeholders and the research community is essential 
to encourage the adoption of best practices, greater 
knowledge adoption and technology uptake and more rapid 
achievement of industry goals.

FWPA communicates research findings to industry through a 
number of methods including: 

•	 the updated corporate website that has improved 
research report search functionality, report summaries 
and video capabilities

•	 FWPA newsletters – the corporate publication, Leading 
Edge, and a new R&D based monthly newsletter, R&D 
Works. The newsletter contains international research 
findings, and summaries of FWPA-funded research and 
other research of interest to Australian forest growers, 
processors and importers.

•	 industry press articles

•	 media releases

•	 DVDs and memory sticks 

•	 executive summaries.

Workshops and targeted seminars are also used to reach 
relevant audiences. In addition to the annual Ideas Fair, a 
new initiative for 2011 has been the introduction of an R&D 
Works seminar series to make research and researchers 
accessible. The seminar series focuses on technical 
tools that can be implemented by industry rather than 
ongoing research and tailors presentation topics to the 
regions visited. 

Over a 12-month period, the seminar series visits 
14 regions:

•	 Hobart • Launceston

•	 Tumut • Mt Gambier

•	 Gympie • Wangaratta

•	 Bairnsdale  • Grafton

•	 Bathurst • Brisbane

•	 Adelaide • Sydney

•	 Perth  • Melbourne 

These activities increase awareness of research results and 
encourage their adoption by the industry.

Education

FWPA, and its predecessor organisation, has always 
invested in targeted education activities in a range of areas. 
Following an independent review, the level of investment 
in education was increased and all education activities 
were consolidated into one investment plan. This plan also 
incorporates the company’s response to ministerial priorities 
that were published in early 2010.

Ongoing activity in education includes:

Specifier education

Launched in 2011, the WoodSolutions knowledge base, 
woodsolutions.com.au, was designed to deliver practical, 
accurate information to design and building professionals. 
The site hosts technical information including the free 
downloadable WoodSolutions Technical Design Guides, 
presentations, case studies and CPD learning tutorials.

In addition, specifier education includes learning resources 
for TAFE carpentry courses and teaching materials 
for university level courses in structural engineering 
and architecture.

STRATEGY THREE:

TECH TraNSFEr aND EDUCaTION

p	Marco Lausberg from the Solid Wood Initiative presenting 
at the Mt Gambier R&D Works Seminar.
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Vocation programs

During 2011, a national careers program, GrowingCareers 
was launched to address the long-term skills shortage the 
sector faces. The program included the development of a 
dedicated careers website www.growingcareers.com.au 
as well as a broad marketing campaign to drive change in 
community perceptions of working within the industry.

In September 2010, FWPA launched its national forestry 
summer jobs campaign to university students. The 
campaign aimed to widen the potential pool of students 
studying forestry by increasing awareness of these summer 
work opportunities. 

The campaign targeted science, agriculture and 
environment students across 10 universities. The industry 
supported the campaign with more than 40 summer job 
positions giving students their ‘first taste’ of the forest and 
wood products industry.

School curricula

Targeting teachers and educators of grades 3 to 12  
in Australian schools, FWPA, in collaboration with a  
network of forest educators and forestry communication 
specialists across Australia, launched a dedicated portal  
for forest and wood product teaching resources.  
Forestlearning.edu.au provides activities, resources and 
ideas for teachers to integrate forest education into their 
learning programs. These are structured to match key 
learning areas in the Australian school curriculum, including 
science, history, geography, mathematics and technology. 

Industry capacity

Scholarships and awards programs, aimed at the industry 
and the research community, are designed to increase the 
industry’s capability to create and apply knowledge. These 
programs address both people beginning their careers 
and those in mid-career, to maximise the opportunities for 
industry participants to increase their knowledge and develop 
their skills. Scholarships include mid-career prizes, diversity 
programs and course development.

PhD scholarships

In 2011, full scholarships were awarded to Tristan Morgan 
from the University of Western Australia and Doug Thomas 
from the University of Technology Sydney. Tristan’s research 
will focus on the use of advanced digital design and 
manufacturing technologies applied to engineered timber 
products, while Doug plans to investigate and develop 
strategies for timber residential buildings.

Additionally, a top-up scholarship was awarded to Ian Riley 
from the University of Tasmania, who will study the ecological 
factors affecting carbon stocks of Tasmanian native forests.

FWPA funds 14 PhD scholarships covering a wide range of 
topics of future benefit to the sector

Indigenous scholarships

Two Indigenous scholarships were awarded in 2011, the 
first to industry employee, Kerry Wharley of Boral Timbers in 
Kyogle, to study a Certificate IV in Occupational Health and 
Safety, the other to Martyn Ellis to study a Forestry degree at 
the Australian National University.

Australian Rural Leadership Foundation (ARLF) 
TRAILblazer program

FWPA sponsored an industry participant, Andy Wright, in the 
Australian Rural Leadership Foundation (ARLF) TRAILblazer 
program, which is designed to build the skills of existing 
industry leaders.

t	Growing Careers 
website.

p	Zoe Ryan, Forest Carbon Specialist. The program highlights 
the many rewarding roles available in forestry.

www.forestlearning.edu.au
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CASE STUDY

The impact of drought on trees:  
2011 Science and Innovation Awards winner

Dr Patrick Mitchell,  
postdoctoral scientist, CSIRO

Dr Patrick Mitchell is the winner of the FWPA Award 
given as part of the 2011 Science and Innovation 
Awards for Young People in Agriculture, Fisheries 
and Forestry. This prize honours a young scientist in 
the early stages of their career and provides them 
with a $22,000 grant to undertake an important 
research project.

Patrick’s work has been in plant physiology, in particular 
in understanding plant responses to water, or the 
lack of it. The research program he has initiated using 
the award funding is called ‘Death by dehydration or 
starvation: uncovering the mechanisms of mortality 
during drought in Australian forest species’. The findings 
will be of vital importance to foresters across Australia. 

“Current climate projections indicate conditions that 
increase the risk of drought, and heat stress and 
tree mortality in Australia’s forests,” Patrick says. “At 
present, process-based models of forest productivity 
don’t account for drought-induced mortality, which 
limits our ability to predict future risk and vulnerability 
of different forest types. This project will identify key 
physiological mechanisms controlling drought response 
and mortality, and help incorporate mortality into growth 
models for commercially important tree species.”

Initially, seven species are being studied: Eucalyptus 
globulus (blue gum), E. sideroxylon (Red ironbark), 
E. radiata (narrow-leaved peppermint), E. regnans 
(mountain ash), E. astingens (brown mallet), Callitris 
glaucophylla (cypress pine) and Pinus radiata (radiata 
pine). Patrick’s results will be presented to an industry 
workshop in 2012 and incorporated into tree-growth 
models such as CSIRO’s CABALA program.

Sponsorships

Sponsorship of selected technical conferences and support 
of peer review and discussion of scientific research enables 
FWPA to facilitate the exchange of knowledge and flow 
of information in the forest and wood products industry. 
Sponsorships included the following:

2011 Science and Innovation Awards for Young 
People in Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry

The awards help young people to pursue innovative 
scientific ideas that will develop long-term benefits to 
Australia’s rural industries. Funding can be used for a 
research project, an industry visit, study of a specific area or 
to attend conferences.

The Future of Forestry and  
Forest Science Conference 

Marking 100 years of Forestry education, FWPA sponsored 
The University of Melbourne’s The Future of Forestry and 
Forest Science Conference. The event offered past and 
present students, scientists, researchers, forestry and 
environmental professionals, and government policy makers 
an open forum to reflect on the development of forest 
science and forestry education and consider the how forest 
science can meet the needs of future generations.

ANZIF 2011 Pacific Forestry –  
Growing a Forestry Future 

This conference targeted forestry policy makers, managers 
and practitioners from the South Pacific region and 
addressed issues including illegal logging and climate 
change and social, cultural and economic expectations of 
forests in the region. 

t	Kerry Wharley (above) 
and Martyn Ellis both 
received Indigenous 
scholarships in 2011.
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CASE STUDY

Developing industry leadership – TRAILblazers 

Andy Wright, Elders Forestry

In March 2011, FWPA sponsored Andy Wright to 
attend TRAILblazers, an intensive eight-day advanced 
leadership program run by the Australian Rural 
Leadership Foundation. TRAILblazers takes leaders 
in rural industries and communities, pushes them 
out of their comfort zones and helps them discover 
what it takes to be an inspiring and effective leader. 
The combination of outdoor experiential learning and 
interactive lectures makes for a profound process of 
personal and group understanding. 

Andy is a regional manager with Elders Forestry in 
Western Australia, looking after E. globulus plantation 
operations. He was drawn to TRAILblazers by a desire 
to grow from being a good leader to a great leader, and 
wanting to understand his own leadership strengths 
and weaknesses. 

“The course was a profound experience. I came back 
more grounded, more confident in being able to argue 
a point that I believe is right, as well as brimming with 
ideas and enthusiasm. In the future I’d like to be a good 
leader—not for power or self-aggrandisement—but 
because I believe people deserve good leaders in work 
and life,” Andy says. 

He also believes the course has a lot to offer leaders 
in forestry. 

“The key problem with foresters — and it’s not really a 
problem in most contexts — is they are too modest. 
Modest professionals don’t like to trumpet their passion, 
don’t like to lend strident and passionate voice to their 
views in public settings, and don’t like to talk from the 
heart to total strangers. I believe this is to our industry’s 
detriment. I left the course more determined than ever to 
give a voice to our profession and industry. We have so 
much to be proud about.”

International Symposium on Veneer Processing 
and Products 

Supporting international collaboration, FWPA sponsored 
a key industry researcher to participate in the International 
Symposium on Veneer Processing and Products in 
Seattle, USA. 

Northern Forestry Conference

FWPA initiated and co-funded, with Rural Industries Research 
and Development Corporation, a conference to discuss 
issues with forest development in Northern Australia. The 
conference was held in early April and was attended by about 
50 people from Western Australia, Northern Territory and 
Queensland. The conference speakers addressed a wide 
range of opportunities and challenges such as Indigenous 
land ownership, species selection and access to markets.

Forest Industry Engineering Association 

FWPA is a key sponsor of the Forest Industry Engineering 
Association (FIEA). With a regular series of conferences, 
practical workshops and managed exhibitions every year, 
FIEA is a vehicle for technology transfer for forestry and wood 
products companies. Forestry and wood product companies, 
product suppliers, researchers and technology providers 
from throughout the world are targeted and involved with the 
programs. In addition to these events, new resources from 
the technology programs are being supplied to New Zealand 
and Australian companies.

FIEA events include:

•	 ScanTECH 2010

•	 Wood Manufacturing 2010 

•	 ForestTECH 2010

•	 Residues to Revenues 2011

•	 SawTECH 2011

p	Andy Wright from Elders Forestry participating in TRAILBlazers.

	Participating in the Northern Australia Forestry Forum are 
John Halkett, Director, Forestlands Consulting; Noel Pearson, 
Chairman, Cape York Institute for Policy and Leadership; Ric 
Sinclair, Managing Director, FWPA and Ken Moore, Senior 
Research Manager, National Rural Issues, RIRDC.
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Maintaining or increasing access for 
wood-based products

Formal standards play an important role by providing 
consistency and predictability in the areas they cover. Within 
the standards arena, there is a tension between innovation 
and providing confidence for users and the general 
community. Historically, many standards were prescriptive 
(i.e. detailed specifications) but today they tend to be more 
performance-based, that is they specify required outcomes.

The Australian forest and wood products sector has been 
generally well served by formal standards. In the past, 
government funded research organisations and agencies 
provided a lot of ‘free’ technical input into standards 
development. Consequently, Standards Australia was able 
to fund the standards development process through income 
generated from other sources. This is no longer the situation 
and the move is towards a user-pay model.

The sector and its products are covered by hundreds of 
standards and building codes. These range from dedicated 
material standards, such as axe handles, to more general 
building standards such as wind loads. In many cases, the 
standards are interlinked, which can create a high degree of 
complexity.

FWPA aims to strategically manage the development of 
standards to maintain or increase market access for wood-
based products, while rationalising the number of standards. 
Rationalisation has the twin benefits of reducing the cost 
of standards development and improving their uptake. The 
company’s activities are guided by a standards reference 
group and are undertaken in close liaison with Standards 
Australia and other bodies within the sector.

Key highlights from 2010/11

Standards Australia – Building sector board

Standards Australia has reconstituted its Building Sector 
Board that consists of 13 industry groups as well as the 
Australian Building Codes Board. Only two material groups 
are represented on the Board, one of which is FWPA.

STRATEGY FOUR:

STaNDarDS COOrDINaTION

Construction of buildings in bushfire-prone areas

FWPA, through its standards representative, actively 
contributed to the drafting of the proposed Amendment 3 
to AS3959. The fire-tested sheet roof system, fire-test work 
jointly funded by FWPA, has been included as a Flame zone, 
deemed-to-satisfy solution. This roof solution will enable the 
use of timber products in extreme bushfire areas. Also in the 
proposed amendment, the definition of ’bushfire-resisting 
timber’, previously only applicable to ‘solid’ sawn timber, has 
been modified to include laminated and reconstituted wood 
based products.

AS/NZS 1170.2 (wind actions)

Proposed changes to AS/NZS 1170.2 were opposed. These 
changes would have significantly affected timber-framed 
construction, including increasing the size of wall studs and 
the top and bottom chords of roof trusses. FWPA, through 
its standards representative, opposed this change and 
argued that external building elements (e.g. garage doors) 
should be fit for the purpose and be able to be subject to 
the wind loads in the particular wind terrain. During severe 
weather events, the failure of garage doors had led to 
increase internal pressures in structures.

Representation on Standards committees

FWPA is represented on the following Standards Australia 
building and timber committees. Activity within each of 
these committees is dependent on need for review, update 
or revision of the relevant standards managed by the 
committee.

BD-06  General Design Requirements and  
 Loading and Structures

BD-006 01  Permanent, Imposed and other actions

BD-006 02  Wind Loads

BD-006 03  Snow actions

BD-006 04  Earthquake Actions NZ

BD-006 10  General Design Requirements

BD-006 11  Earthquake Actions Aust.

BD-011  Interior Board Linings

CE-032  Reinforced Soils and Retaining Structures

FP-018  Fire Safety

FP-020  Construction in Bushfire Prone Areas 

TM-001 05  Testing Bracing Wall Units

TM-002  Timber Framing

TM-007  Milled Products
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Standards development –  
AS1604 and AS1605 series

A review and update of AS1604 and AS1605 standards 
series commenced with an external consultant engaged to 
update both standards. The initial drafting of the AS1604 
series has been completed and will now be submitted to 
Standards Australia for TM-006 committee deliberations. 
The drafting of the AS1605 series will be completed in the 
next financial year.

Finger-jointed timber

The development of a Finger-jointed timber standard 
has begun. The standard aims to assist industry in the 
manufacture of single laminate (beam) finger-jointed timber 
products. It will enable timber producers to increase 
recovery by reducing waste. Localised defects, particularly 
knots, will be able to be docked out of high-quality sawn 
timber and the pieces re-joined.

Standards adoption – AS1684.2

FWPA engaged external consultants to conduct training 
seminars on the changes and interpretation of the 
amended structural timber standard. The seminars focused 
on building practitioners, including designers, building 
surveyors, engineers and builders. AS1684 is industry’s 
key standard that relates to the residential timber framed 
housing market and supports the use of industry’s products.

Updated priority standards

FWPA’s Standards Reference Group has identified the 
development of the high-priority standards using the 
standards development rating criteria. The standards for this 
year’s work program include: AS1080 Method of test (stds); 
AS1170 Wind loading; AS/NZS 1328.1 Glued laminated 
structural timber; AS1604 Preservative treated timber; AS 
1605 Preservative analytical measurement standard; AS 
1684.1 Framing; AS 1684.2 &3 Span tables; AS 1720 
Truss design; AS/NZS 2269 Structural plywood; AS/NZS 
2843.1&2 Treatment plant design; AS 3818.1-8 Heavy 
structural products – visual grading; AS3959 Construction 
in bushfire areas; AS/NZS 4063 Structural property testing; 
AS/NZS 4357.0 Specifications & (Part 4) formaldehyde 
emissions for LVL; AS 5604 Natural durability ratings.

p	Finger-jointed timber.
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Directors

During the reporting period, eight non-executive directors 
served on the Board as well as the Managing Director. 
Seven directors (including the Managing Director) were 
Directors of the Company for the full financial year. One 
director completed his term on 28 October 2010 and one 
director was appointed around the same time. 

Election of Directors

According to the Company Constitution, FWPA’s Board 
shall comprise between five and nine directors (including the 
Managing Director) at least two of whom are independent 
directors. After the first annual general meeting, directors, 
with the exception of the Managing Director who is an 
employee of the Company, are appointed on a rotational 
basis by the Company’s voting members at the annual 
general meeting. The appointments are for terms of three 
years with a maximum of three consecutive terms.

Board of Directors

Mr Ron Adams

Mr Nick Roberts

Mr Vince Erasmus

Dr Sadanandan Nambiar (until 28 October 2010)

Mr Mark Grey

Mr Evan Rolley

Mr Jim Snelson

Dr Michele Allan (appointed 29 October 2010)

Mr Ric Sinclair

Board committees

Board committees ensure appropriate management and 
review of company operations, and make certain that 
investments are adequately evaluated and deliver outcomes 
to Company Members and other stakeholders. The Board 
committees are: Audit and Finance Committee, Research 
and Development Investment Committee, and Promotion, 
Services and Communication Committee. All committee 
members listed below were members of the committee for 
the entire year, unless otherwise specified.

Audit and Finance Committee

Members: 

Mark Grey (Chair) 

Jim Snelson (until 28 October 2010)

Michele Allan (from 29 October 2010)

Evan Rolley (until 28 October 2010)

Nick Roberts (from 29 October 2010)

Invited guests: 

Mr Ric Sinclair

Mr Jason See

The key tasks of the Audit and Finance Committee are to:

•	 Ensure prudent management of the Company’s 
finances; ensure the Board makes informed decisions 
regarding the Company’s overall expenditures; ensure 
activities approved by the Board are consistent with 
Australian law relating to prudent financial management; 
ensure the terms and conditions of employment of 
the Company’s staff are consistent with the relevant 
Commonwealth and State Government policies and 
laws; and provide a general overview of the Company’s 
financial management.

•	 Liaise with FWPA’s auditors; review the adequacy of 
internal controls and of compliance with relevant laws, 
regulations, policies and procedures; report to the Board 
on the adequacy of audit procedures; and promote 
accurate, high quality and timely disclosure of financial 
and other information to the Board and key stakeholders.

Research and Development Investment 
Committee

Members: 

Vince Erasmus (Chair)

Sadanandan Nambiar (until 28 October 2010)

Ron Adams

Evan Rolley

Michele Allan (from 29 October 2010)

The key tasks of the Research and Development Investment 
Committee are to:

•	 Approve research investments as specified within the 
Company Delegation Authority.

•	 Provide recommendations to the Board regarding the 
Company’s R&D project investments and policies; ensure 
the prudent management of the Company’s contractual 
R&D commitments; and work in association with 
industry advisory groups to develop R&D strategy and 
identify priorities.

DIrECTOrS’ rEpOrT
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DIRECTOR BOARD AUDIT & FINANCE R&D PROMOTION, 
SERVICES AND 
COMMUNICATION

No. meetings 
attended

No. meetings 
eligible to 
attend

No. meetings 
attended

No. meetings 
eligible to 
attend

No. meetings 
attended

No. meetings 
eligible to 
attend

No. meetings 
attended

No. meetings 
eligible to 
attend

Mr Ron Adams 7 7 3 3

Mr Nick Roberts 6 7 1 1 1 1

Mr Vince Erasmus 7 7 3 3

Dr Sadanandan 
Nambiar*

2 2 1 1

Dr Michele Allan 5 5 1 1 2 2

Mr Mark Grey 7 7 2 2 3 3

Mr Evan Rolley 7 7 1 1 3 3 2 2

Mr Jim Snelson 6 7 1 1 2 2

Mr Ric Sinclair 7 7 3 3 3 3

Promotion, Services and Communication 
Committee

Members: 

Mark Grey 

Nick Roberts (until 28 October 2010),

Jim Snelson (Chair) (from 29 October 2010), 

Evan Rolley

The key tasks of the Promotion, Services and 
Communication Committee are to:

•	 Approve investments as specified within the Company 
Delegation Authority.

•	 Oversee the Capability, Adoption and Promotion 
program, including advising the Company on knowledge 
management and technology transfer from R&D activities; 
develop and implement the Company’s communication 
and technology transfer plans; and provide informed 
advice to the Board regarding the Company’s marketing, 
communication and technology transfer activities.

Board meetings

During the reporting period the Board held seven meetings. 
Details of attendance by individual Board members are 
provided below.

Board Members’ Attendance 2010-2011

*Term ended 28 October 2010

Nature of operations

The major activities of the FWPA during the financial 
year comprised:

•	 Providing research and development to support the 
Australian forest and wood products industry; and

•	 Providing domestic marketing and promotion services to 
the Australian forest and wood products industry.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of 
these operations during the period.

Results of operations

The operating result for the financial year to 30 June 2011 
was an operating deficit of $2,226,896.

Rounding amounts

FWPA is a Company of the kind specified in the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission class order 
98/0100. In accordance with that class order, amounts in 
the financial statements and the directors’ report have been 
rounded to the nearest dollar unless specifically stated to 
be otherwise.
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Significant events after the 
balance date 

There have been no events between the end of the financial 
year and the date of this report, which in the opinion of the 
Directors is likely to affect significantly the operations of the 
company, the results of those operations, or the state of 
affairs of the company in subsequent financial years.

Code of conduct

The FWPA Code of Conduct requires the Board and all 
staff to promote high standards of ethics and integrity. 
The language, attitudes and actions of directors, senior 
management and staff must reflect the principles of integrity 
and ethics, as well as the company’s values and culture. 
The Code of Conduct recognises that FWPA’s employees 
are vital to the fulfilment of the Company’s purpose and, 
consequently, the highest level of staff satisfaction, health 
and safety must be maintained. It also encourages directors 
and staff to commit to the philosophy of continuous 
improvement at the corporate and individual levels.

Conflict of interest and register 
of interests

A director must disclose an interest wherever he or she 
considers there is a potential conflict of interest and a 
Declaration of Directors’ Interests is a standing agenda 
item for all Board meetings. This policy is consistent with 
Section 21 of the Corporations Act 2001.

Risk management, fraud control and 
business recovery

The company has risk management, business recovery and 
fraud control plans in place. It also maintained a human 
resource policy and procedures, a Corruption and Fraud 
Control and Whistleblower policies. During the year, the 
Board approved a revised risk management and a fraud 
control plan.

Environmental regulation and 
performance

The Company is not subject to any particular or significant 
environmental regulation. 

Indemnification and insurance of 
directors and officers 

Appropriate insurance policies were maintained for the 
period to cover directors and officers for professional 
indemnity; general liability; property loss, destruction or 
damage; increased cost of working/ business interruption; 
official overseas travel and workers’ compensation.

Auditor independence

The auditors’ independence declaration in relation to the 
audit of the Company’s accounts for the financial year 
30 June 2011 is set out in the financial report and forms 
part of the directors’ report.

Registered office and principal place 
of business

Level 4, 10-16 Queen Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000 
Phone: (03) 9927 3200

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board 
of Directors.

Ronald Adams Alaric Sinclair 
Director Director 
25 August 2011  25 August 2011
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The Directors of the Company declare that:

1 The financial statements and notes, as set out 
on pages 43 to 60, are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and:

(a) comply with Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as 
at 30 June 2011 and of the performance for the 
period ended on that date of the Company.

2 In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds 
to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution 
of the Board of Directors.

Ronald Adams Alaric Sinclair 
Director Director

Dated this 25th day of August 2011
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME for the year ended 30 June 2011

Note
2011 

$
2010 

$

Revenue 2(a) 9,636,232  8,583,884 

Other income 2(c) 585,211  668,309 

Employee benefits expense 3(a) (1,151,712) (1,119,389)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 7(a) (38,008) (30,967)

Research and development project costs 3(b) (7,558,874) (5,702,403)

Industry and product promotion (3,066,807) (2,964,148)

Other expenses (632,938) (662,264)

Net surplus/(deficit) (2,226,896) (1,226,978)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION as at 30 June 2011

Note
2011 

$
2010 

$

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 512,172 604,705

Trade and other receivables 5 817,007 797,284

Financial assets 6 6,160,117 8,156,922

Total current assets 7,489,296 9,558,911

Non-current assets

Furniture and equipment 7 138,411 151,723

Total non-current assets 138,411 151,723

Total assets 7,627,707 9,710,634

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 8 268,549  134,460 

Short-term provisions 9 74,044  141,563 

Other current liabilities 10 6,000  6,000 

Total current liabilities 348,593  282,023 

Non-current liabilities

Other long-term provisions 9 118,769  35,370 

Other non-current liabilities 10 6,000  12,000 

Total non-current liabilities 124,769  47,370 

Total liabilities 473,362  329,393 

Net assets 7,154,345  9,381,241 

EQUITY

Retained surplus 7,154,345 9,381,241

Total equity 7,154,345  9,381,241 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY for the year ended 30 June 2011

Note
2011 

$
2010 

$

Opening balance at beginning of year 9,381,241 10,608,219

Net surplus/(deficit) (2,226,896) (1,226,978)

Closing balance at the end of year 7,154,345 9,381,241

NB: The Company’s equity balance at year end should be read in the context of the following Schedule of Commitments.

SCHEDULE OF COMMITMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2011

2011 
$

2010 
$

BY TYPE

Commitments

Commitments1  7,072,956  5,731,759

Total commitments by type 7,072,956  5,731,759 

BY MATURITY

Commitments

One year or less  3,670,311  2,930,938 

From one to five years  3,402,645  2,800,821 

Total commitments by maturity  7,072,956  5,731,759 

NB: Commitments are GST inclusive where relevant. 
1 As at 30 June 2011, commitments comprise payable under project and grant agreements in respect of which  
the recipients are yet to either perform the services required or meet eligible conditions. Details of Commitments:

Commitments 
0–1 year

Commitments 
1–5 years

Total  
Commitments

Market access development  686,516  836,000  1,522,516

Solid wood processing  864,479  363,000  1,227,479 

Sustainability and resources  1,937,156  2,069,445  4,006,601 

Tech Transfer and Education  177,100  134,200  311,300

Other R&D matchable activities  5,060  -  5,060 

 3,670,311  3,402,645  7,072,956 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW for the year ended 30 June 2011

Note
2011 

$
2010 

$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from members and government 9,715,785 8,714,349

Payments to suppliers and employees  (12,255,347) (10,359,781)

Interest received 481,828 377,395

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 12 (2,057,734) (1,268,040)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (34,799) (39,212)

Acquisition/redemption of financial assets 6 2,000,000 (1,005,278)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,965,201 (1,044,490)

Net increase (decrease) in cash held (92,533) (2,312,530)

Cash at the beginning of the reporting period 604,705 2,917,235

Cash at end of financial period 4 512,172 604,705

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 30 June 2011

1 Accounting policies

The financial report is a general purpose financial report 
that has been prepared in accordance with Accounting 
Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.

Forest & Wood Products Australia Limited is a company 
limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled 
in Australia.

The financial report of Forest & Wood Products Australia 
Limited complies with all Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) in 
their entirety.

The following is a summary of the material accounting 
policies adopted by the Company in the preparation of 
the financial report. The accounting policies have been 
consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis 
and is based on historical costs modified by the revaluation 
of selected non current assets, financial assets and financial 
liabilities for which the fair value basis of accounting has 
been applied.

(b) Significant accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates and may have an 
impact on future periods.

(c) Comparatives

Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to 
changes in presentation in these financial statements 
where required.

(d) Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis 
taking into account the interest rates applicable to the 
financial assets.

Members’ levies are recognised on advice of entitlement 
from the Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry 
and from State Growers estimate of their levies payable. 

Government contributions are recognised at fair value 
where there is reasonable assurance that the contribution 
will be received and all conditions will be met. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST).

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits 
held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or 
less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown 
within short term borrowings in current liabilities on the 
balance sheet.

(f) Furniture and equipment

Each class of furniture and equipment is carried at cost 
or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Purchases of furniture and equipment are recognised 
initially at cost, except for purchases costing less than 
$1,000, which are expensed in the year of acquisition (other 
than where they form part of a group of similar items which 
are significant in total). The cost and related accumulated 
depreciation on furniture and equipment sold or otherwise 
disposed of are removed from the accounts and any gain 
or loss is reported as current period’s revenue or expense.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated 
on a straight line basis over their useful lives to the 
Company commencing from the time the asset is held 
ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated 
over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease 
or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable 
assets are:
Office equipment 13% – 27%
Leasehold improvements 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

The carrying amount of furniture and equipment is reviewed 
annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of the 
recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable 
amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash 
flows that will be received from the asset’s employment 
and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows 
have been discounted to their present values in determining 
recoverable amounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 30 June 2011

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses 
are included in the income statement. When revalued assets 
are sold, amounts included in the revaluation reserve relating 
to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

(g) Financial instruments

Recognition and initial measurement

Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and 
financial liabilities, are recognised when the Company 
becomes a party to contractual provisions of the 
instruments. Trade date accounting is adopted for financial 
assets that are delivered within timeframes established by 
marketplace convention.

Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade 
date, which includes transaction costs, when the related 
contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to 
initial recognition these instruments are measured as set 
out below.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if 
so designated by management and within the requirements 
of AASB 139: Recognition and Measurement of Financial 
Instruments. Realised and unrealised gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of these assets are 
included in the income statement in the period in which 
they arise.

Held-to-maturity investments

These investments have fixed maturities, and it is the 
Company’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. 
Any held to maturity investments held by the Company 
are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available for sale financial assets include any financial 
assets not included in the above categories. Available for 
sale financial assets are reflected at fair value. Unrealised 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken 
directly to equity

Financial liabilities

Non derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised 
cost, comprising original debt less principal payments 
and amortisation.

Impairment

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial instrument has 
been impaired. In the case of available for sale financial 
instruments, a prolonged decline in the value of the 
instrument is considered to determine whether impairment 
has arisen. Impairment losses are recognised in the 
income statement.

(h) Trade payables

Trade and other payables are stated at cost, which 
approximates fair value due to the short term nature of 
these liabilities.

(i) Employee benefits

Provision is made for the Company’s liability for employee 
benefits arising from services rendered by employees to 
balance date. Employee benefits that are expected to be 
settled within one year have been measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related 
on costs. Employee benefits payable later than one year 
have been measured at present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows to be made for those benefits.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made 
in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date. Consideration is given to expect future 
wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, 
and periods of service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity and 
currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.

Superannuation

Employees of the Company are members of the Australian 
Government Employees Superannuation Trust (AGEST), 
State Super Financial Service (SSFS), Equipsuper, 
Commonwealth Personal Super, BT Financial Group, 
AustralianSuper and LUCRF Super. Contributions are made 
to the Company employee superannuation funds and are 
charged as expenses when incurred.



 Forest & Wood Products Australia – ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11 49

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 30 June 2011

(j) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and 
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of 
the amount of the obligation can be made. If the effect 
is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows using a current pre tax rate that 
reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

(k) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In 
these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the 
expense. Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are 
shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a 
gross basis, except for the GST component of investing 
and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating 
cash flows.

(l) Lease

Leases are classified as finance or operating leases. 
A lease that transfers substantially all of the benefits and 
risks incidental to the ownership of property is classified 
as a finance lease. All other leases are accounted for as 
operating leases wherein rental payments are expensed as 
incurred. The Company does not have any finance leases.

(m) Impairment of assets

The Company monitors the recoverability of assets, based 
on factors such as current market value, future asset 
utilisation, business climate and future undiscounted cash 
flows expected to result from the use of the related assets. 
The Company’s policy is to record an impairment loss in 
the period when it is determined that the carrying amount 
of the asset may not be recoverable. The impairment loss 
is calculated as the amount by which the carrying amount 
of the asset exceeds the undiscounted estimate of future 
cash flows from the asset. To 30 June 2011, no impairment 
losses have been recorded.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the 
asset belongs.

(n) Income taxes

No provision for income tax has been raised as the 
Company is exempt from income tax under Division 50 
of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(o) Rounding of amounts

The Company has applied the relief available to it under 
ASIC Class Order 98/0100 and accordingly, amounts in the 
financial report and directors’ report have been rounded off 
to the nearest $1.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 30 June 2011

2011 
$

2010 
$

2 Revenue
(a) Revenue breakup

Commonwealth matching 4,416,594  3,502,250 

Industry contributions 2(b) 5,219,638  5,081,634 

Total revenue 9,636,232  8,583,884 

(b) Industry contributions

Processors 2,963,605  2,944,581 

Importers 958,841  951,603 

Growers 596,737  512,313 

State growers 676,296  661,446 

Penalties 24,159  11,691 

Total industry contributions 5,219,638  5,081,634 

(c) Other revenue

Bank interest received 487,279  471,236 

Industry project contributions 95,189  157,818 

Others 2,743  39,255 

Total other revenue 585,211  668,309 

3 Expenses
(a) Employee benefits expense (Corporate component only)1

Wages and salaries 1,028,971  983,591 

Annual leave 5,778  15,177 

Long service leave 10,102  19,748 

Superannuation contributions 75,069  76,692 

Payroll tax 31,792  24,181 

Total employee benefits expense 1,151,712  1,119,389 

1. Employee benefits pertaining to Timber Standard Development are classified as project costs.  
Employee benefits that were included in program costs amounted to $148,898.

(b) Research and development projects costs

Market access development 1,058,450  1,486,141 

Solid wood processing 946,420  1,375,656 

Sustainability and resources 2,237,710  1,394,572 

Capability adoption and promotions 1,762,081  675,168 

Stakeholder consultation and development 113,969  274,266 

Specifier information and education activities 1,440,244  496,600 

Total research and development project costs 7,558,874  5,702,403 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 30 June 2011

2011 
$

2010 
$

4 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 200  200 

Cash at bank 511,972  604,505 

Short-term bank deposits -  - 

512,172  604,705 

5 Trade and other receivables
CURRENT

Commonwealth matching 517,944  492,537 

Levies receivable 281,957  227,481 

Interest receivable 4,306  2,051 

Prepayments 5,831  6,743 

GST receivable/(payable) 6,969 68,472

817,007  797,284 

6 Other financial assets
Held to maturity investment: long term bank deposits 6,037,052 8,037,052 

Interest receivable  123,065  119,870 

 6,160,117 8,156,922 

7 Furniture and equipment
Office equipment

At cost 180,779  145,980 

Less accumulated depreciation (118,993) (104,441)

Total office equipment 61,786  41,539 

Improvements

At cost 167,797  167,797 

Less accumulated depreciation (91,172) (57,613)

Total improvements 76,625  110,184 

Total furniture and equipment 138,411  151,723 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 30 June 2011

(a) Movements in Carrying Amounts

Office Equipment  
$

Improvements  
$

Total  
$

Balance at 30 June 2009 41,539 110,184 151,723

Additions 34,799 - 34,799

Depreciation expense (10,714) (27,294) (38,008)

Program depreciation expense (3,838) (265) (4,103)

Lease incentive amortise - (6,000) (6,000)

Carrying amount at the end of period 61,786  76,625 138,411

2011 
$

2010 
$

8 Trade and other payables
CURRENT

Trade payables  209,231  93,253 

Deposit  10,000  - 

 219,231  93,253 

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Audit fee  10,500  10,000 

Director fees  6,530  - 

PAYG tax and FBT (BAS)  32,288  31,207 

 49,318  41,207 

9 Provisions Make good 
of premises 

$

Long term  
employee benefits 

$ 
Total  

$

Balance at 30 June 2010 24,500  152,433 176,933

Additional provisions -  15,880 15,880

Amounts used -  - -

Balance at 30 June 2011 24,500 168,313 192,813

The number of employees at 30 June 2011 was 8.

2011 
$

2010 
$

Analysis of total provisions

Current 74,044  141,563 

Non-current 118,769  35,370

192,813  176,933
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 30 June 2011

2011 
$

2010 
$

10 Other liabilities
CURRENT

Lease incentive liability  6,000 6,000

NON-CURRENT

Lease incentive liability 6,000  12,000 

11 Members’ Guarantee

The Company is limited by guarantee. If the Company is 
wound up, the Constitution states that each member is 
required to contribute a maximum of $1 each towards any 
outstanding obligations of the Company. At 30 June 2011 
the number of members was 78.

2011 
$

2010 
$

12 Cash Flow information
Reconciliation of cash flow from operations  
with profit after income tax

Net income/loss for the period (2,226,896) (1,226,978)

Non-cash flows in profit

 Depreciation, amortisation and impairments  
 changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects  
 of transfers of operations

42,111 33,690

 (Increase)/decrease in trade and term receivables (22,918) (160,451)

 Increase/(decrease) in trade payables and accruals 134,089 44,386

 Increase/(decrease) in employee provisions 15,880 41,313

Cash flow from operations (2,057,734) (1,268,040)

13 Financial instruments

(a) Financial Risk Management Policies

The Company’s financial instruments consist mainly of 
deposits with banks, short term investments, accounts 
receivable and accounts payable. It does not have any 
derivative financial instruments at 30 June 2011. 

The Company manages its exposure to key financial risks 
in accordance with the Risk Management Plan.

(i) Treasury Risk Management

The Audit and Finance Committee consisting of directors 
meet on a regular basis to analyse financial risk exposure 
and to evaluate treasury management strategies in 
the context of the most recent economic conditions 
and forecasts.

(ii) Financial Risk Exposures and Management

The main risks the Company is exposed to through its 
financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk 
and credit risk.
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Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the cash deposits at 
Commonwealth Bank of Australia, Westpac Bank and 
the National Australia Bank (all triple AAA rated financial 
institutions). During the year, interest rates vary between 
5.05% and 6.30%. 

Foreign currency risk

The Company is not exposed to fluctuations in foreign 
currencies.

Liquidity Risk

The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast 
cash flows. The extent of exposure to liquidity risk is the 
carrying amounts of the liabilities and commitments as 
indicated in the Balance Sheet and Commitments schedule.

Trade and other payables will be settled between 7 to 30 
days as per creditors’ terms. 

Employee leave will be settled as and when they fall due or 
when employment is terminated. The Company does not 
foresee any difficulty in meeting its financial liabilities.

Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the 
value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to 
recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of 
any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed 
in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.

The Company does not have any material credit risk 
exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables 
under financial instruments entered into by the Company.

Levies and matching payments receivable are guaranteed 
by Commonwealth Legislation. All receivables are aged less 
than 30 days and are expected to be settled within the 14 
or 28 days invoice term. There are no material amounts of 
collateral held as security at 30 June 2011.

Price risk

The Company is not exposed to any material 
commodity price risk.

(b) Financial instruments

(i) Financial instrument composition and 
maturity analysis

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the 
risk that a financial instruments value will fluctuate as a 
result of changes in market interest rates and the effective 
weighted average interest rates on classes of financial 
assets and financial liabilities, is as follows:

Weighted Average  
Effective Interest Rate

Floating 
Interest Rate

Maturing  
within 1 year

Non-interest 
Bearing

Total

2011 
%

2010 
%

2011 
%

2010 
%

2011 
%

2010 
%

2011 
%

2010 
%

2011 
%

2010 
%

Financial  
assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents

3.0 1.7 511,972 604,505 -  - 200  200 512,172  604,705 

Long-term 
deposits

6.0 4.9 -  - 6,160,117  8,156,922 -  - 6,160,117 8,156,922 

Receivables - - -  - 817,007 797,284 817,007  797,284 

Total financial 
assets

  511,972 604,505 6,160,117 8,156,922 817,207 797,484 7,489,296 9,558,911

Financial 
liabilities

Trade and sundry 
payables

- - - - 268,549  134,460 268,549  134,460 

Total financial 
liabilities

  -  - -  - 268,549  134,460 268,549  134,460

All payables and receivables are expected to mature in less than 6 months. Long-term deposits are expected to mature in more than 6 months.
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(ii) Net fair values

For financial assets and liabilities the net fair value is equal 
to their carrying values. No financial assets or financial 
liabilities are readily traded on organised markets in 
standardised form. 

The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in the 
balance sheet and in the notes to the financial statements.

Aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial 
assets and financial liabilities at balance date:

Total Carrying Amount Aggregate Net Fair Value

2011 
$

2010 
$

2011 
$

2010 
$

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  512,172  604,705  512,172  604,705 

Held-to-maturity financial assets  6,160,117  8,156,922 6,160,117  8,156,922 

Receivables  817,007  797,284  817,007  797,284

 7,489,296  9,558,911 7,489,296  9,558,911 

Financial liabilities

Other liabilities  268,549  134,460  268,549  134,460 

 268,549  134,460  268,549  134,460 

(iii) Sensitivity analysis

The Company has performed a sensitivity analysis relating 
to its exposure to interest rate risk at balance date. This 
sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current 
year results and equity which could result from a change 
in these risks. During the year, interest rate variation 
was 1.25%.

At 30 June 2011, the effect on profit and equity as a 
result of changes in the interest rate based on the average 
financial assets of $6.55 million would be as follows:

Change in profit

Increase in interest rate by 1.25% 81,875

Decrease in interest rate by 1.25% (81,875)

Change in equity

Increase in interest rate by 1.25% 81,875

Decrease in interest rate by 1.25% (81,875)
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2011 
$

2010 
$

14 Directors’ remuneration
Amounts received, or due and receivable, by Directors  458,584  422,466

The names of Directors who have held office during 
the period are detailed in the Directors report. 

15 Auditors’ remuneration
Remuneration of the auditor of the Company for:

Auditing the financial report 10,500 10,000

16 Related party transaction

Transactions between related parties are on 
normal commercial terms and conditions no more 
favourable than those available to other parties unless 
otherwise stated.

2011 
$

2010 
$

Income

Forests NSW (Nick Roberts) 221,526  218,300 

J.W. Gottstein Memorial Trust - 10,000

Project Expenditure

Forest Industries Federation of WA (Ron Adams)  - 5,870 

J.W. Gottstein Memorial Trust (Ron Adams, Ric Sinclair) 1,400 1,300

The Australian Plantation Products & Paper Industry Council  
(Jim Snelson)

99,123 51,000

Transactions with related parties were directors’ 
remuneration, as disclosed in Note 14.

Various project expenditure were made to the following 
director related entities. The directors involved took no 
part in any relevant decisions of the Board. The directors 
related to the various entities are listed next to them.

17 Contingent liabilities

At 30 June 2011 the Company had no 
contingent liabilities.

18 Amounts guaranteed

The Company has issued a guarantee in the amount of 
$ 37,051 in favour of Parkside Properties Pty Ltd with 
respect to an agreement for leased premises at Level 4, 
10-16 Queen Street, Melbourne. The guarantee is held in 
term deposit with Commonwealth Bank of Australia.
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2011 
$

2010 
$

Opening balance at the beginning year 213,677 209,104

Add: interest earned 14,450 4,573

Less: payments - -

Closing balance at the end of year 228,127 213,677

Nature of lease
Annual 
Rental Terms Expiry

Commitments 
0-1 year

Commitments 
1-5 years

Total 
Commitments

Level 4, 10-16 Queen Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000

$71,481 5 years 13/05/2013  $71,481  $57,185  $128,666 

20 Assets held in trust

Russell Grimwade Prize Trust

Donations and Bequests Research Trust Account

Donations and bequests for specified research purposes are 
received from the public under formal trust arrangements. 
Monies received are placed in a special bank account and 
expended on the specified research projects in accordance 
with the terms of the trusts.  

21 Events after the balance date

No events have occurred since 30 June 2011 which would 
significantly affect the operations of the Company.

2011 
$

2010 
$

19 Operating Lease Commitments
BY TYPE

Other commitments

Operating leases 128,666  197,290 

Total commitments by type 128,666  197,290 

BY MATURITY

Operating lease commitments

One year or less 71,481  73,572 

From one to five years 57,185  123,718 

Total commitments by maturity 128,666  197,290 

NB: Commitments are GST inclusive where relevant    
1 Operating leases included are effectively non-cancellable and comprise leases for office accommodation. 
Leasing arrangement: Lease payments are subject to annual increase in accordance with upwards movements in the 
Consumer Price Index.

The company took over control of the trust monies from 
Forest & Wood Products Research & Development 
Corporation on 3 September 2007. These monies are not 
available for other purposes of the company and are not 
recognised in the financial statements.

22 Company details

The registered office of the Company is:

Forest and Wood Products Australia Limited 
Level 4, 10-16 Queen Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT
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rESEarCH prOJECTS 2010/11

Investment Priorities

1 Information, analysis and interpretation of domestic and export markets

2 Timber construction in residential buildings 

3 Timber construction in commercial and industrial buildings 

4 Wood products in sustainable buildings

5 Development of secondary products and markets for them

6 Solid wood, engineered wood and pulp and paper products: Performance and yield

7 Maximising product yields and values from current resources

8 Improving wood quality and yield, and tools for forest management

9 Genetic improvement and delivery for increased wood yield and quality and for managing risks

10 Water use efficiency, access to resources and balanced policy outcomes

11 Forest biosecurity and preparedness

12 Mitigation of and adaptation to climate change and the management of the carbon cycle  
in plantations and native forests

13 Other
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PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 

COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Investment Priority 1. Information, analysis and interpretation of domestic and export markets

Project: Conduct an Overview of the current Australian size and makeup 
of the outdoor timber and infrastructure applications market

10,000 10,000 PRA213-1011

Research Provider: Timber Development Association-NSW

Project: Coordinated supply of production, consumption, trade and  
socio-economic data for the forest and timber industry 

128,882 592,274 PNA225-1011 

Research Provider: Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Eco

Project: Investment strategy for market statistics and information 27,975 27,975 PRA170-0910 

Research Provider: The Fifth Estate Consultancy Pty Ltd  

Project: Policies and additional investment models to support continued 
plantation investment in Australia

87,515 87,515 PRA189-1011 

Research Provider: Myoora Investments Pty Ltd  

Project: Provision of a timber market survey and preparation of a quarterly 
report to provide information on prices and trends in Australian wood 
product markets

334,878 669,756 PNA116-0809 

Research Provider: URS Australia Pty Ltd  

Project: Updating estimates of future log and trade volumes and 
levy income

28,880 28,880 PRA201-1011 

Research Provider: URS Australia Pty Ltd  

Investment Priority 2. Timber construction in residential buildings     

Project: Alternative solution compliance resource for fire safe 
timber design

22,400 47,400 PNA217-1011 

Research Provider: Timber Development Association (NSW) Ltd

Project: Development of technical educational resources and support of 
Continuing Professional Development, tertiary and trade level education 
and training to support and educate existing and future users/specifiers of 
timber products (TRP)

680,000 1,380,000 PNA024-0809 

Research Provider: TPC Solutions Pty Ltd

Project: Investment plan for increased use of timber products in the 
residential housing market 

43,000 43,000 PRA199-1011 

Research Provider: Worms Downunder

Project: Preparation of structural engineering software providers brief 20,000 20,000 PNA001-0405 

Research Provider: Timber Development Association (NSW) Ltd

Project: Reducing fire regulatory barriers and standards on timber and 
wood products

738,900 997,900 PNA025-0809 

Research Provider: Timber Development Association-NSW

Project: The Australian multi-residential timber-framed market 15,000 15,000 PRA165-0910 

Research Provider: Housing Industry Association

Investment Priority 3. Timber construction in commercial and industrial buildings

Project: The development and implementation of innovative and 
sustainable structural timber building technologies (STIC)

750,000 8,336,206 PRA028-0809 

Research Provider: Structural Timber Innovation Company Ltd

Investment Priority 4. Wood products in sustainable buildings

Project: Assessor review of carbon calculator module for AccuRate 6,000 6,000 PRA203-1011 

Research Provider: Association of Building Sustainability Assessors

Completed –    Active – 



 Forest & Wood Products Australia – ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11 63

PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 

COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Completed –    Active –    Terminated – 

Project: Carbon storage in paper and composite wood products in landfills 50,000 560,000 PRB180-0910 

Research Provider: Industry & Investment NSW

Project: Conversion of Wood Products LCI into building products LCI data 
collection format

15,300 15,300 PRA221-1011 

Research Provider: RMIT

Project: Database conversion of timber LCI 2,900 2,900 PRA205-1011 

Research Provider: RMIT

Project: Development of an Australian life cycle assessment methodology 
for building products

73,000 73,000 PRA026-0809 

Research Provider: Timber Development Association (NSW) Ltd

Project: Development of an embodied CO2 emissions module for AccuRate 97,000 139,000 PNA161-0910 

Research Provider: CSIRO

Project: Effective use of thermal mass in residential timber-framed 
construction – Scoping study for developing rules of thumb for direct 
gain systems

13,500 113,583 PNA214-1011 

Research Provider: The University of Sydney

Project: Enhacements to Embodied CO2 Emissions Module for AccuRate 22,000 22,000 PNA219-1011 

Research Provider: CSIRO Ecosystem Sciences 

Project: LCA study investigating the impact of construction on sloping sites 28,500 28,500 PRA188-1011 

Research Provider: University of Technology Sydney

Investment Priority 5. Development of secondary products and markets for them

Project: Development of FWPA Research and Development Investment 
Plan for Development of secondary products and markets for them

41,896 41,896 PRB212-1011 

Research Provider: Strategic Forestry Research Pty Ltd

Investment Priority 6. Solid wood, engineered wood and pulp and paper products: Performance and yield

Project: Accelerated H3 decay testing for the faster evaluation of 
alternative preservative timber treatments

181,000 433,000 PNB041-0708 

Research Provider: CSIRO

Project: Determining optimised H3 LOSP treatment options for decay 
protection in softwood glulam

73,481 153,281 PNB038-0708 

Research Provider: CSIRO Materials Science & Engineering

Project: FWPA support for Plantation Hardwood Research project ‘High 
value timber composite panels from hardwood plantation thinnings’

100,000 1,330,878 PRB145-0809 

Research Provider: Dept of Primary Industries – Qld LD

Project: Glulam design based on lamination grades and the use of mill shorts 85,000 254,558 PNB157-0910 

Research Provider: Monash University

Project: Improving the durability of low durability plantation hardwoods for 
use as power poles

79,000 345,000 PNB146-0809 

Research Provider: Queensland Department of Primary Industries

Project: Investigation of NDE technologies for improved drying quality to 
optimise kiln drying schedules, reduce drying degrade and accelerate kiln 
throughput in the hardwood sawmilling industry

107,500 238,200 PNB126-0809 

Research Provider: CSIRO Materials Science & Engineering

Project: NIR Assessment of pyrethroid retention for H2F treatment 13,500 75,411 PNB204-1011 

Research Provider: CSIRO
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Project: NIR assessment of resin quality for composite panel production 101,000 218,043 PNB169-0910 

Research Provider: CSIRO

Project: Pine timber roof environments in Western Australia and its 
susceptibility to European House Borer

600,500 1,682,500 PNA023-0809 

Research Provider: Dept of Agriculture and Food WA

Project: Revaluation of structural properties of machine stress 
graded plywoods

80,000 200,000 PNB194-1011 

Research Provider: SCION

Project: Review and modification of FWPA project – Determination 
of acceptable levels of preservative treated timber reuse applications 
(PNA029-0809)

7,200 7,200 PRA187-1011 

Research Provider: LJCookson Consulting

Project: Schedule development, predictive modeling and economic 
viability assessment of vacuum drying Australian commercial hardwoods 
for potential industry investment

223,000 535,000 PNB045-0809 

Research Provider: Queensland Department of Primary Industries

Project: The Aus/NZ Solid Wood Initiative: Better performing structural 
products manufactured with higher efficiency and using less energy 
and water

942,145 8,202,145 PNB131-0809 

Research Provider: WQI Ltd

Investment Priority 7. Maximising product yields and values from current resources

Project: Calibration of effects of removal of nutrients in harvesting a 
radiata pine plantation

5,220 11,220 PRC202-1011 

Research Provider: Forsci Pty Ltd

Project: Development of selection and implementation guide for the use of 
onboard systems for improved efficiency and value recovery in Australian 
forest operations

348,000 721,038 PNC119-0809 

Research Provider: CRC Forestry Limited

Project: Impact of internal checking on the log and timber value of fire 
salvage ash type sawlogs

50,500 206,300 PNB182-0910 

Research Provider: VicForests

Project: Raising Awareness in the Forest Industry of Improved Inter-
Rotational Management in Radiata Pine

12,000 89,500 PNC216-1011 

Research Provider: Forsci Pty Ltd

Project: The potential to recover higher value veneer products from 
Fibre Managed Plantation Eucalyptus and broaden product and market 
opportunities for this resource

186,000 586,000 PNB139-0809 

Research Provider: University of Tasmania

Investment Priority 8. Improving wood quality and yield, and tools for forest management  

Project: Adoption of new airborne technologies for improving efficiencies 
and accuracy of estimating standing volume and yield modelling in Pinus 
radiata plantations

125,215 456,411 PNC058-0809 

Research Provider: NSW Department of Primary Industries

Project: Comparison of graded recovery and value of major subtropical 
exotic pine taxa

10,000 100,000 PNC198-1011 

Research Provider: Forestry Plantations Queensland Pty Ltd

PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 

COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Completed –    Active – 
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PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 

COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Project: Compromised Wood: Improving the properties of young radiata 
pine using fundamental chemical studies and NDE techniques

75,000 2,906,000 PNC056-0809 

Research Provider: University of Canterbury

Project: Contribution of CAR reserves to mature forest biodiversity in 
production forest landscapes

160,000 422,474 PNC142-0809 

Research Provider: Forestry Tasmania

Project: CRC for Forestry participant contribution 600,000 29,160,000 PNC065-0607 

Research Provider: CRC Forestry Limited

Project: Development of Terms of reference for stage 2 plantation 
investment review

5,037 5,037 PRC224-1011 

Research Provider: Myoora Investments Pty Ltd

Project: Forest industry cooperative pesticide research, chemical 
registration, industry and community education and chemical use and 
application regulation advice consortium 

99,123 599,123 PNC176-0910 

Research Provider: Australian Plantation Products & Paper Industry Co

Project: Investment Plan – Improving Wood Quality and Yield, and Tools 
for Forest Management

25,200 25,200 PRC208-1011 

Research Provider: P F Olsen & Co Ltd

Project: Managing subtropical pines for improved wood production 
based on a better understanding of genetics, silviculture, environment and 
their interactions

356,270 747,017 PNC057-0809 

Research Provider: Forestry Plantations Queensland Pty Ltd

Project: Predicting wood quality to improve sawlog value in radiata pine 100,000 636,458 PNC196-1011 

Research Provider: CSIRO

Project: Review of the science of public native forest management for 
sustainable timber production in Victoria

22,900 22,900 PRC174-0910 

Research Provider: Forsci Pty Ltd

Project: The Forest Productivity Optimisation System – A decision support 
tool for enhancing the management of planted forests in southern Australia 
under changing climate

222,937 1,321,612 PNC168-0910 

Research Provider: CRC Forestry Limited

Investment Priority 9. Genetic improvement and delivery for increased wood yield and quality and for managing risks

Project: Active Genetic Conservation and Utilisation of Native Radiata 
Pine Germplasm for Increasing Genetic Gain of Growth, Form and Wood 
Quality, and Risk Traits 

126,420 737,345 PNC135-0809 

Research Provider: CSIRO

Project: Analysis of genetic and tree performance data across whole 
of industry using TREEPLAN to identify superior trees to lift productivity, 
quality and economic value of the forestry resource

300,000 864,554 PNC076-0809 

Research Provider: Southern Tree Breeding Association

Project: Genetic Selection Tools for Enhanced Wood Properties and 
Plantation Productivity in Australia's Temperate Eucalypts (The Hottest 1000)

295,000 2,546,876 PNC209-1011 

Research Provider: CSIRO

Project: Optimal use of genetics in deployment and tree breeding 245,000 1,358,235 PNC211-1011 

Research Provider: Southern Tree Breeding Association

Completed –    Active – 
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PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 

COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Project: Preparation of an options paper on the development of a pan 
Australia tree breeding infrastructure that will meet the expectations of all 
levy-paying Australian forest growers (G A Kile)

9,102 9,102 PRC207-1011 

Research Provider: G A Kile

Project: Preparation of an options paper on the development of a pan 
Australia tree breeding infrastructure that will meet the expectations of all 
levy-paying Australian forest growers (Omega Consulting)

11,500 11,500 PRC206-1011 

Research Provider: T/A Omega Consulting

Project: Utility of molecular breeding in forestry 20,000 90,700 PNC220-1011 

Research Provider: Southern Tree Breeding Association

Investment Priority 10. Water use efficiency, access to resources and balanced policy outcomes

Project: Development of FWPA Research & Development Plan for water 
use efficiency, access to resources and balanced policy outcomes 
(R Sands)

37,956 37,956 PRC181-0910 

Research Provider: SANFOR

Project: Predicting Eucalyptus nitens plantation water use using growth 
parameters

200,000 725,270 PNC143-0809 

Research Provider: Forestry Tasmania

Investment Priority 11. Forest biosecurity and preparedness

Project: An audit of forest biosecurity arrangements and preparedness 
in Australia

95,040 193,234 PNC159-0910 

Research Provider: University of Tasmania

Project: Development of industry issues paper responding to current 
myrtle rust incursion in Australia (ALIEMI)

9,957 9,957 PRC218-1011 

Research Provider: ALIEMI Pty Ltd

Project: Evaluation of ethyl formate and nitrogen for disinfestation of 
eucalyptus weevil on export apples 

9,099 9,099 PRC178-0910 

Research Provider: Horticulture Australia Limited

Project: Introduction of the wasp, Diaeretus essigellae, for the biocontrol 
of pine aphid in Australia

723,185 1,264,625 PNC063-0607 

Research Provider: South Australian Research & Development Institute 

Project: Rapid screening of commercial forestry species to Uredo rangelii 
(myrtle rust) and distinguishing U. rangelii from Puccinia psidii (guava rust)

21,843 21,843 PRC179-0910 

Research Provider: Industry & Investment NSW

Project: To develop FWPA Research and Development Investment Plan 
for Forest biosecurity and preparedness 

6,000 6,000 PRC223-1011 

Research Provider: Peter J Bailey

Investment Priority 12. Mitigation of and adaptation to climate change and the management of the carbon cycle in plantations 
and native forests

Project: FWPA Investment Plan: Mitigation of and adaptation to climate 
change and the management of the carbon cycle in plantation and native 
forests (Glen Kile)

23,235 23,235 PRC173-0910 

Research Provider: G A Kile

Project: FWPA Investment Plan: Mitigation of and adaptation to climate 
change and the management of the carbon cycle in plantation and native 
forests (M Robinson)

12,000 12,000 PRC177-0910 

Research Provider: UMEE Ltd

Completed –    Active – 
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PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 

COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Investment Priority 13. Other

Project: 2010 ESD Knowledge broker project 17,250 17,250 PRD172-0910 

Research Provider: TPC Solutions Pty Ltd

Project: Developing an effective technology transfer mechanism for FWPA 38,572 38,572 PRE192-1011 

Research Provider: T/A Omega Consulting

Project: Development of an options paper regarding the management and 
exploitation of intellectual property developed using R&D funding provided 
by FWPA

11,000 11,000 PRE210-1011 

Research Provider: Darvat Pty Ltd T/A Parratt Family Trust

Project: Enhancing the knowledge base in key areas of timber production 
and use

35,000 93,500 PND184-0910 

Research Provider: University of Tasmania 

Project: Finalisation of report – Forest and wood products R&D funding 
environmental scan (PRE171-0910)

19,600 19,600 PRE186-1011 

Research Provider: Ian Ferguson

Project: Forestry and wood products R&D funding environmental scan 44,400 44,400 PRE171-0910 

Research Provider: Howard Burvill

Project: Further analysis of FWPA's investment in selected research and 
development project for social benefit cost analysis (BCA)

10,326 10,326 PRE197-1011 

Research Provider: URS Australia Pty Ltd

Project: FWPA Investment Plan – Appearance timber products and 
market strategy

16,000 16,000 PRA185-1011 

Research Provider: Timber Development Association-NSW

Project: Review and summary of 114 FWPA Solid Wood Processing and 
Sustainability and Resources projects completed from 2002

21,375 21,375 PRB191-1011 

Research Provider: TPC Solutions Pty Ltd

Project: Review and summary of approximately 58 FWPA Market Access 
and Development (MAD) projects completed from 2002

7,500 7,500 PRA166-0910 

Research Provider: Wood Products Victoria

Investment Priority Not Assigned     

Project: FWPA Indigenous Scholarship (Kerry Wharley) 2,500 2,500 PGD222-1011 

Project: Investigation of sawmilling by-products as feed stocks for the 
furafuel process (Levi George Reid) 

90,000 228,000 PGD096-0809 

Research Provider: Monash University

Project: Investigation of the causes of natural durability in Australian 
hardwoods: Applicable to quality control and tree breeding to support the 
development of plantations for high-value solid wood products (Lesley 
Francis)

90,000 90,000 PGD104-0809 

Research Provider: University of Queensland

Project: Managing gene flow from Eucalyptus globolus plantations 
(Matthew Larcombe)

34,000 34,000 PGD183-0910 

Research Provider: University of Tasmania

Project: Monitoring timber bridge beams for structural health (John Moore) 75,000 75,000 PGD137-0809 

Research Provider: University of New England

Completed –    Active – 
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Project: Optimising resin consumption, pressing time and density of 
particleboard made of hardwood sawmill residues by exploring use of 
alternative resins and mixes of softwood and hardwood (Kee Kong Wong)

75,000 75,000 PGD132-0809 

Research Provider: RMIT

Project: Optimising Timber Use in Residential Building to Reduce 
Environmental Impact: A Life Cycle Assessment Approach (Hamidul Islam)

90,000 214,557 PGD103-0809 

Research Provider: RMIT

Project: Postgraduate research into the environmental, economic and 
other costs incurred by increasing the thermal performance (star rating) of 
the domestic construction in Australia, particularly on light-weight timber 
construction (Phil McLeod)

90,000 156,000 PGD088-0708 

Research Provider: University of Tasmania

Project: Researching the social impacts of reduced native forest timber 
access, in order to aid the development of policy and packages designed 
to assist industry adaptation (Edwina Loxton)

90,000 222,250 PGD102-0809 

Research Provider: Australian National University 

Project: The importance of environmental factors in microwave induced 
permeability of timber (Leigh Aitken)

105,000 309,000 PGD077-0506 

Research Provider: University of Melbourne (Forestry)

Project: Timber housing in Australia: Using value added wood products, 
alternative framing and structural systems, prefabrication and design from 
the Scandinavian timber housing industry in the Australian context  
(David Bylund)

75,000 75,000 PGD148-0809 

Research Provider: University of Western Australia

Project: Use of genotypic information for Pinus radiata improvement 
(Adrian Hathorn) 

98,400 98,400 PGD080-0708 

Research Provider: University of New England

Project: Variable Retention Silviculture: A comparison of biodiversity 
research and management practices between Tasmania, Australia and the 
Pacific Northwest (WFI awardee: Susan Baker)

27,492 27,492 PGD167-0910 

Research Provider: World Forest Institute

PROJECT DESCRIPTION FWPA 
INVESTMENT  

$

TOTAL 
PROJECT 

COST $

STATUS PROJECT NO.

Completed –    Active – 
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Forest & Wood Products Australia Limited 
(FWPA) is an industry services company 
providing a national, integrated strategy to 
increase demand for forest and wood products 
and reduce the impediments to their supply. 
FWPA is committed to helping the forest and 
wood products industry to be collaborative, 
innovative, sustainable and competitive.

VISION 

To ensure that forest and wood products are the 
preferred, sustainable material that meets the 
Australian market needs. 

MISSION 

The vision will be achieved through FWPA investing 
strategically in R&D, knowledge transfer, education 
and generic promotion to gain community 
support and market acceptance for forest and 
wood products.
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